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As of December 31, 2013
the fourth quarter and full year results and prior-period comparative results for genworth MI Canada Inc. (“genworth Canada” or the 

“Company”) reflect the consolidation of the Company and its subsidiaries, including genworth Financial Mortgage Insurance Company 

Canada (the “Insurance Subsidiary”). the Insurance Subsidiary is engaged in the provision of mortgage insurance in Canada and is 

regulated by the office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“oSFI”) as well as financial services regulators in each province.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
the following Management’s discussion and analysis (“Md&a”) of the financial condition and results of operations as approved by the 

Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) on February 18, 2014 is prepared for the year ended december 31, 2013. 

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with International Financial reporting 

Standards (“IFrS”). this Md&a should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements. 

Interpretation
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Md&a to “genworth Canada” or the “Company” refer to 

genworth MI Canada Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

Unless the context otherwise requires, all financial information is presented on an IFrS basis. 

Forward-looking statements
this document contains forward-looking statements that involve certain risks. the Company’s actual results could differ materially 

from these forward-looking statements. For more information, please read “Special note regarding forward-looking statements” at 

the end of this document.

Non-IFRS financial measures

to supplement the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFrS, the Company 

uses non-IFrS financial measures to analyze performance. non-IFrS financial measures include net operating income, operating 

earnings per common share (basic), operating earnings per common share (diluted), shareholders’ equity excluding accumulated 

other comprehensive income (“aoCI”), operating return on equity and underwriting ratios such as loss ratio, expense ratio and 

combined ratio. non-IFrS financial measures used by the Company to analyze the impact of the reversal of the government 

guarantee fund exit fee include adjusted net investment income, adjusted net income, adjusted earnings per common share (basic), 

adjusted earnings per common share (diluted), adjusted net operating income, adjusted operating earnings per common share 

(basic), adjusted operating earnings per common share (diluted), and adjusted operating return on equity. other non-IFrS measures 

used by the Company to analyze performance include insurance in force, new insurance written, minimum capital test (“MCt”) 

ratio, delinquency ratio, severity on claims paid, investment yield, book value per common share (basic) including aoCI, book value 

per common share (basic) excluding aoCI, book value per common share (diluted) including aoCI, book value per common share 

(diluted) excluding aoCI, and dividends paid per common share. the Company believes that these non-IFrS financial measures 

provide meaningful supplemental information regarding its performance and may be useful to investors because they allow for 

greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision making. non-IFrS 

financial measures do not have standardized meanings and are unlikely to be comparable to any similar measures presented by 

other companies. In addition, where applicable, non-IFrS measures used by the Company have been adjusted to analyze the 

impact of the reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fee.
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See the “non-IFrS financial measures” section at the end of this Md&a for a reconciliation of net operating income to net income, 

operating earnings per common share (basic) to earnings per common share (basic), operating earnings per common share (diluted) 

to earnings per common share (diluted), and shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI to shareholders’ equity. definitions of key 

non-IFrS financial measures as well as an explanation of why these measures are useful to investors and the additional purposes 

for which management uses the measures can be found in the Company’s “glossary for non-IFrS financial measures,” in the 

“non-IFrS financial measures” section at the end of this Md&a.

Overall performance

Business background
genworth Canada is the leading private-sector residential mortgage insurer in Canada and has been providing mortgage insurance in 

Canada since 1995. the Company has built a broad underwriting and distribution platform across the country that provides customer-

focused products and support services to the vast majority of Canada’s residential mortgage lenders and originators. genworth Canada 

underwrites mortgage insurance for residential properties in all provinces and territories of Canada and has the leading market share 

among private mortgage insurers. the Canada Mortgage and housing Corporation (“CMhC”), a crown corporation, is the Company’s 

main competitor.

Seasonality
the mortgage insurance business is seasonal. premiums written vary each quarter, while net premiums earned, investment income and 

sales, underwriting and administrative expenses tend to be relatively more stable from quarter to quarter. the variations in premiums 

written are driven by mortgage origination activity and associated mortgage insurance policies written, which typically peak in the 

spring and summer months. Losses on claims vary from quarter to quarter, primarily as the result of prevailing economic conditions 

and characteristics of the insurance in force portfolio, such as size, age, seasonality and geographic mix of delinquencies. typically, 

losses on claims increase during the winter months, due primarily to an increase in frequency, and decrease during the spring and 

summer months.

Overall performance
the Company reported 2013 fourth quarter net income of $93 million or $0.98 per common share (diluted), and net operating income of 

$85 million or $0.90 operating earnings per common share (diluted). as compared to the fourth quarter in the prior year, net income this 

quarter decreased by $133 million, or 59%, and net operating income decreased by $141 million or 62%. the decrease was primarily 

the result of the $137 million after-tax impact of the reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fees in the fourth quarter of 2012. 

excluding the $137 million, net income increased by $4 million, or 4%, to $93 million as higher net gains on investment and lower losses 

on claims were partially offset by lower earned premiums, higher expenses and a higher effective tax rate. the loss ratio in the fourth 

quarter of 2013 was 22%, as compared to 31% in the fourth quarter of 2012.

Outlook 
the mortgage insurance business is affected by changes in economic, employment and housing market trends as well as changes 

in government policy. the housing market is affected by trends in interest rates, home price changes, mortgage origination volume, 

government regulation and mortgage delinquencies.

the Company expects that the macroeconomic environment in 2014 will be characterized by the following factors: 

• Canadian gross domestic product (“GDP”) is expected to grow from 1.6% in 2013 to 2.3% in 2014 based on the 

Bank of Canada forecasts.

• The unemployment rate is expected to decline slightly from the December 2013 rate of 7.2% based on the consensus 

economic forecast.

• Interest rates should remain relatively low by historical standards, even after factoring in the potential for a rate increase by the 

Bank of Canada in 2014.
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• Housing resale activity should increase modestly from the 455,000 units in 2013 based on the Canadian Real Estate 

association’s forecast.

• National home prices should remain flat or increase modestly in 2014.

while these macroeconomic factors are supportive of a relatively stable housing market, the 2012 product changes have resulted in a 

smaller high loan-to-value mortgage origination market, since the second half of 2012. the Company believes that the high loan-to-value 

mortgage market has normalized, and going forward, the growth rate of the high loan-to-value market should keep pace with the overall 

housing resale market. In summary, the Company expects that the 2014 residential mortgage insurance premium opportunity for high 

loan-to-value mortgages will be modestly higher than in 2013, in line with the expected increase in housing resale activity.

the Company remains focused on continuing to grow its market share for high loan-to-value mortgages by executing its customer-

focused sales and service strategies. the Company also insures portfolios of low loan-to-value mortgages. demand for portfolio 

insurance fluctuates based on the specific needs of each lender. For both the core high loan-to-value and low loan-to-value portfolio 

insurance segments, the Company intends to maintain a high-quality insurance portfolio through active risk management. 

Based on the expected market conditions, the Company expects that its full year loss ratio for 2014 should be generally in the 25% to 

35% range, as compared to its 35% to 40% long-term target loss ratio range.

the Company continues to actively manage its approximately $5.4 billion investment portfolio, which consists primarily of highly rated 

fixed income securities. the Company’s asset mix includes a small allocation to dividend-paying common shares, which currently offer 

higher pre-tax equivalent yields. the investment portfolio has a relatively short portfolio duration of 3.7 years, including cash and cash 

equivalents of $214 million and approximately $735 million of maturities in 2014. Interest rates have increased modestly from the end 

of the second quarter of 2013, and the Company’s investment portfolio yield is 3.7% as at december 31, 2013. Current market yields 

on securities similar to the investment portfolio remain below the current investment portfolio yield, and in the current low interest rate 

environment the Company’s investment yield will continue to be impacted by the relatively low reinvestment rates. 

the Company manages its capital base to maintain a balance between capital strength, efficiency and flexibility. as at december 31,  

2013, the Insurance Subsidiary’s MCt ratio was 223%, or 38 percentage points higher than its internal target of 185%. the Company 

plans to operate with an MCt ratio above 190% in order to provide the flexibility necessary to support its in force insurance, to fund 

new insurance written growth opportunities that may become available, to maintain strong credit ratings and to optimize returns to 

shareholders.

with $1.7 billion of unearned premiums and $3.1 billion of shareholders’ equity, the Company is well positioned as the leading private 

mortgage insurer through its significant scale, execution of customer-focused sales and service strategies, proactive risk management of 

its insurance portfolio, and prudent investment management. 

Regulatory environment

Government guarantee legislation 

on January 1, 2013, the Protection of Residential Mortgage or Hypothecary Insurance Act (Canada) (“prMhIa”) came into force 

and established a legislative framework that replaced the guarantee agreement that the Company had with the federal government 

of Canada (the “guarantee agreement”). private mortgage insurers pay a risk fee of 2.25% of the gross premiums written to the 

government under prMhIa.
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Mortgage insurance eligibility rules 

Under prMhIa the government established regulations that set out the criteria that a mortgage has to meet in order to be insured. 

Some of these factors for high loan-to-value mortgages are:

• A maximum mortgage amortization of 25 years. 

• Refinanced mortgages limited to a loan-to-value of 80% or less. 

• Capping the maximum gross debt service ratios at 39% and total debt service ratios at 44%. 

• Capping home purchase price at less than $1 million. 

• Setting a minimum credit score of 600.

Low loan-to-value mortgages

In the 2013 federal budget, the government of Canada proposed to gradually limit the insurance of low loan-to-value mortgages to 

only those mortgages that will be used in CMhC securitization programs. In addition, the government has indicated an intention 

to prohibit the use of any taxpayer-backed insured mortgage, both high and low loan-to-value, as collateral in securitization vehicles that 

are not sponsored by CMhC. the Company is in dialogue with the government of Canada as it designs the structure to implement the 

proposed changes. the final impact of these proposed changes on the business of the Company cannot be assessed at this time.

OSFI Corporate Governance Guideline 

oSFI’s revised Corporate governance guideline came into force January 1, 2014. the guideline addresses Board and committee 

responsibilities and competencies, the development of a risk appetite framework and the overall internal control framework.  

to the extent the Company has deemed appropriate, it has made enhancements to its corporate governance structure to align with 

this guideline.

Draft Own Risk and Solvency Assessment Guideline 

on november 11, 2013, oSFI published the final version of guideline e-19 – own risk and Solvency assessment (the “orSa”), with 

an effective date of January 1, 2014. an orSa project plan must be submitted to oSFI by March 31, 2014 and the final report must 

be approved by the Board of directors no later than december 31, 2014. this new guideline sets out oSFI’s expectations with respect 

to an insurer’s own view of its risks and solvency requirements. the prime purpose of the orSa is for an insurer to identify material 

risks, and to assess the adequacy of its risk management and the adequacy of its current and likely future capital needs and solvency 

positions. the orSa should be forward looking and be congruent with an insurer’s business and strategic planning. the Company does 

not anticipate a significant impact on its capital position from the implementation of the orSa.

B-21 – Mortgage Insurance Underwriting Guidelines

the Company expects that oSFI will publish mortgage insurance underwriting guidelines in the first half of 2014 that will be based on 

the principles in its guideline B-20, residential Mortgage Underwriting practices and procedures. It is the Company’s expectation that 

the new mortgage insurance specific guideline will generally be aligned with the Company’s existing practices, and as a result, should 

not have a significant impact on its operations.

Proposed Changes to the Regulatory Capital Framework 

on June 25, 2013, oSFI released a discussion paper on proposed Changes to the regulatory Capital Framework for Federally regulated 

property and Casualty (“p&C”) insurers. the purpose of the proposed changes is to ensure that p&C insurers continue to have a 

robust risk-based capital test. oSFI noted that it has commenced an internal process aimed at developing a new capital framework 

for mortgage insurers. the Company believes that this new capital framework for mortgage insurers may differ in structure from the 

current MCt and expects that the earliest effective date of the new test will be in 2015. the Company is in dialogue with oSFI on the 

development of the new test. at this time, there are insufficient details available to estimate the impact of any new test on the capital 

requirements of the Company.
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Results of operations 
the following table sets forth certain financial information for the fourth quarter and full year of 2013 and 2012.

      For the three months For the twelve months 
      ended december 31 ended december 31

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013 2012 2013 2012

Income statement data
net premiums written       $ 129  $ 117 $ 512 $ 550

net premiums earned       $ 142  $ 147  $ 573  $ 589 
Losses on claims and expenses:       
 Losses on claims        31  46  142   194 
 expenses        33  28  113   105 

total losses on claims and expenses       64  74  255   298 

net underwriting income        78  73  319  291 
net investment income(1)        56   47  215   181  
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fees    —   186  —  186 
Interest expense        (6)  (6)  (23)  (23)
Income before income taxes        128  300  511   635 

net income(1)       $ 93 $ 226 $ 375  $ 470 

net operating income(1),(2)       $ 85 $ 226 $ 349  $ 462 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding         
Basic        94,904,567  98,695,175  97,049,781 98,684,587 
diluted        94,907,933  98,836,531  97,067,722 98,806,915

Earnings per common share ratios        
earnings per common share (basic)(1)      $ 0.98  $ 2.29 $ 3.86  $ 4.77 
earnings per common share (diluted)(1),(3)      $ 0.98  $ 2.29 $ 3.86  $ 4.76 

Selected non-IFRS financial measures(2)       
Insurance in force       $ 316,702  $ 301,456 $ 316,702 $ 301,456 
new insurance written       $ 7,693  $ 8,472  $ 34,985  $ 41,286 
Loss ratio        22%  31%  25%  33%
expense ratio        23%  19%  20%  18%
Combined ratio        45%  50%  44%  51%
operating return on equity(1)        12%  33%  12%  17%
MCt ratio        223%  170%  223%  170%
delinquency ratio        0.12%  0.14%  0.12%  0.14%
Severity on claims paid        29%  34%  30%  32%
operating earnings per common share (basic)(1)     $ 0.90  $ 2.29 $ 3.60  $ 4.68 
operating earnings per common share (diluted)(1),(3)    $ 0.90  $ 2.28 $ 3.60  $ 4.67 

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
(1)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $186 million in the fourth quarter of 2012, adjusted IFRS and non-IFRS financial measures 

for the fourth quarter of 2012 would have been adjusted net investment income $47 million, adjusted net income $89 million, adjusted net operating income $89 million, adjusted earnings 
per common share (basic) $0.90, (diluted) $0.90, adjusted operating earnings per common share (basic) $0.90, (diluted) $0.90 and adjusted operating return on equity 13%. Excluding the 
impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $166 million related to 2011 and prior years, adjusted IFRS and non-IFRS financial measures for the full 
year of 2012 would have been adjusted net investment income $201 million, adjusted net income $348 million, adjusted net operating income $339 million, adjusted earnings per common 
share (basic) $3.53, (diluted) $3.52, adjusted operating earnings per common share (basic) $3.44, (diluted) $3.43, and adjusted operating return on equity 13%.

(2) These financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
(3) The difference between basic and diluted number of common shares outstanding is caused by the potentially dilutive impact of share-based compensation awards.
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Fourth quarter highlights
Compared to the fourth quarter of 2012:

• Net income decreased by $133 million, or 59%, to $93 million and net operating income decreased by $141 million, or 62%, to 

$85 million, primarily the result of the $137 million after-tax impact of the reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fees into 

investment income that occurred in the prior year’s period. excluding the $137 million, net income increased by $4 million, or 4%, 

to $93 million, as higher net gains on investments and lower losses on claims offset lower earned premiums, higher expenses and 

a higher effective tax rate.

• Net premiums written increased by $13 million, or 11%, to $129 million, primarily the result of higher levels of premiums written 

on high loan-to-value mortgages due to a larger mortgage origination market for purchase transactions, partially offset by lower 

demand for portfolio insurance on low loan-to-value mortgages.

• Premiums earned decreased by $5 million, or 3%, to $142 million, primarily due to a $5 million lower earnings curve adjustment as 

compared to the fourth quarter of 2012.

• Losses on claims decreased by $15 million, or 33%, to $31 million, primarily due to an overall decrease in new reported 

delinquencies, as well as a shift in mix, including fewer delinquencies from the alberta 2007 and 2008 books, where the severity on 

claims paid has typically been higher than severity on claims paid in other provinces.

• Expenses increased by $5 million, or 19%, to $33 million, primarily due to an increase in share-based compensation expense as a 

result of a 22% increase in the Company’s share price.

2013 highlights
Compared to the twelve months ended december 31, 2012:

• Net income decreased by $95 million, or 20%, to $375 million and net operating income decreased by $113 million, or 24%, to 

$349 million, primarily the result of the $137 million after-tax impact of the reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fees into 

investment income. excluding the $137 million, net income increased by $41 million, or 12%, to $375 million and net operating 

income increased by $24 million, or 8%, primarily due to lower losses on claims and higher investment income, partially offset by 

higher expenses, lower earned premiums and a higher effective tax rate.

• Net premiums written decreased by $38 million, or 7%, to $512 million, primarily the result of lower levels of premiums written on 

high loan-to-value mortgages due to a smaller refinance market related to the change to the government guarantee eligibility rules 

and lower demand for portfolio insurance on low loan-to-value mortgages. 

• Premiums earned decreased by $16 million, or 3%, to $573 million, primarily due to a $15 million lower earnings curve adjustment 

as compared to the twelve months ended 2012, as well as the aging of the larger 2007 and 2008 books, partially offset by the 

elimination of the risk premium related to the guarantee agreement.

• Losses on claims decreased by $52 million, or 27%, to $142 million, due to an overall decrease in new reported delinquencies, as 

well as a shift in mix, including fewer from the alberta 2007 and 2008 books, where the severity on claims paid has typically been 

higher than severity on claims paid in other provinces.
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Fourth quarter performance
the following table sets forth the quarterly results of operations for the Company’s business:

      For the three months ended  Increase (decrease) and 
      december 31  percentage change

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012  Q4’13 vs. Q4’12

net premiums written       $ 129 $ 117 $ 13  11%

net premiums earned       $ 142 $ 147 $ (5)  (3)%

Losses on claims and expenses:
 Losses on claims        31  46  (15)  (33)%
 expenses        33  28  5  19%

total losses on claims and expenses       64  74  (10)  (14)%

net underwriting income        78  73  6  8%
Investment income:
 Interest and dividend income, net of investment expenses    44  39  5  12%
 net investment gains        11  1  11  nM
 government guarantee fund earnings       —  7  (7)  nM 
 Impact of the reversal of government guarantee fund exit fees    —  186  (186)  nM

total net investment income(1)        56   233   (177)  (76)%
Interest expense        (6)  (6)  —  0%

Income before income taxes        128   300    (172)  (57)%
provision for income taxes        35  74  (39)  (52)%

net income(1)       $ 93 $ 226  $ (133)  (59)%
adjustment to net income: 
 net investment gains, net of taxes       (8)  (0)  (8)  nM

net operating income(1),(2)       $ 85  $ 226  $ (141)   (62)%

effective tax rate        27.5%  24.7%  —  3%
Selected non-IFRS financial measures(2)       
Loss ratio        22%  31%  —  (10) pts
expense ratio        23%  19%  —  4 pts
Combined ratio        45%  50%  —  (5) pts
operating return on equity(1)        12%  33%  —  (22) pts
Investment yield        3.6%  3.8%  —  (0.2) pts

Notes: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
The Company defines NM as “not meaningful” for increases or decreases greater than 100%.
(1)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $186 million in the fourth quarter of 2012, adjusted IFRS and non-IFRS financial measures 

for the fourth quarter of 2012 would have been adjusted net investment income $47 million, adjusted net income $89 million, adjusted net operating income $89 million and adjusted 
operating return on equity 13%.

(2) The financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
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Fourth quarter 2013 compared to fourth quarter 2012 
new insurance written on high loan-to-value mortgages increased by $0.8 billion, or 19%, to $5.2 billion in the fourth quarter of 2013 as 

compared to the prior year’s period, primarily due to a $0.9 billion increase in new insurance written on purchase transactions, partially 

offset by a $0.1 billion decrease in new insurance written on refinance transactions. the Company believes the increase in high loan-

to-value new insurance written on purchase transactions was primarily the result of a larger market size as compared to the prior year’s 

period. the Company expects refinance transactions to represent a small portion of new insurance written in the foreseeable future as 

a result of the change made by the government to the mortgage insurance eligibility rules, which took effect in July 2012 and which 

reduced the maximum loan-to-value on refinance transactions from 85% to 80%. 

new insurance written on low loan-to-value mortgages was $2.5 billion in the fourth quarter of 2013, as compared to $4.1 billion in the 

prior year’s period, as a result of a decrease in demand for low loan-to-value mortgage insurance.

net premiums written increased by $13 million, or 11%, to $129 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s 

period, primarily the result of $17 million of higher premiums from high loan-to-value new insurance written and $2 million from the 

elimination of the risk premium related to the government guarantee agreement partially offset by $6 million from reduced low loan-to-

value new insurance written. Compared to the prior year’s period, the increase in premiums from high loan-to-value new insurance written 

was the result of a larger high loan-to-value mortgage origination market partially offset by a higher mix of 25-year amortization mortgages, 

which have a lower premium rate compared to mortgages with a 30-year amortization period.

premiums from low loan-to-value mortgages were $11 million in the fourth quarter of 2013, as compared to $17 million in the prior year’s 

period, as a result of a decrease in low loan-to-value mortgage insurance opportunities. the Company is proactively managing its total 

exposure and believes there is ample room within the $300 billion private insurers’ cap to continue to write its anticipated levels of both 

high and low loan-to-value volumes of insured mortgages into the foreseeable future.

net premiums earned decreased by $5 million, or 3%, to $142 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s period. 

the decline was primarily the result of a smaller earnings curve adjustment in the fourth quarter of 2013 of $3 million as compared to 

$8 million in the prior year’s period. reduced earnings from the large 2007 and 2008 books of business were offset by the elimination 

of the risk premium in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to a $2 million risk premium in the prior year’s period. the risk premium 

was replaced by a risk fee equal to 2.25% of gross premiums written, which was $3 million in the fourth quarter of 2013. the risk fee is 

accounted for as a premium acquisition expense and is initially deferred and then expensed in proportion to and over the period in which 

premiums are earned.

Losses on claims decreased by $15 million, or 33%, to $31 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s period. 

the decrease was primarily due to strong portfolio quality, declining unemployment rates and modest home price appreciation, which led 

to an overall decrease in new reported delinquencies, as well as a shift in mix, including fewer delinquencies from the alberta 2007 and 

2008 books, where the severity on claims paid has typically been higher than severity on claims paid in other provinces. the Company 

continues to realize savings from its loss mitigation programs, including workout and asset management initiatives which also contributed 

to lower losses on claims. as compared to the prior year’s period, the loss ratio declined by 10 percentage points to 22% for the fourth 

quarter of 2013, primarily due to the $15 million decrease in losses on claims. 

expenses increased by $5 million, or 19%, to $33 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 primarily due to an increase in share-based 

compensation expense, as compared to the prior year’s period. Share-based compensation of $6 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 was 

higher by $5 million, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to the increase in the Company’s share price from $28.97 at September 30,  

2013 to $36.63 at december 31, 2013. the expense ratio increased 4 percentage points to 23% for the fourth quarter of 2013, with 

approximately 3 percentage points due to the higher expenses and approximately 1 percentage point due to the lower earned premium, 

as compared to the prior year’s period.
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excluding the $186 million1 reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fees in the fourth quarter of 2012, interest and dividend 

income from the investment portfolio, inclusive of the government guarantee fund earnings, decreased $2 million, or 5%, to $44 million 

in the fourth quarter of 2013, as compared to the prior year’s period. the $2 million decrease was primarily the result of a $1 million 

reduction in dividend income consistent with the decrease in common equities held in the portfolio and a $1 million reduction in interest 

income due to low reinvestment rates, partially offset by higher assets, as compared to the prior year’s period. the investment yield 

declined 0.2 percentage points to 3.6, as compared to the prior year’s period, primarily related to the decline in fixed income investment 

yields. the Company recorded $11 million net investment gains in the fourth quarter of 2013, primarily from the sale of equities, as 

compared to $1 million in the prior year’s period.

Interest expense remained flat at $6 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s period.

the effective tax rate of 27.5% in the fourth quarter of 2013 increased by approximately 290 basis points as compared to the prior year’s 

period. the fourth quarter of 2013 includes approximately $1 million of additional taxes related to higher share-based compensation 

expense, a significant portion of which is non-deductible, and approximately $1 million of additional taxes from a decrease in non-taxable 

dividend income, as compared to the prior year’s period. additionally, the prior year’s period included $2 million of tax benefits from the 

recognition of tax losses available for carryforward relating to pMI Mortgage Insurance Company Canada, a subsidiary acquired by the 

Company, in the fourth quarter of 2012. the combined basic federal and provincial income tax rate of 26% was relatively unchanged as 

compared to the prior year’s period.

the MCt ratio increased approximately 53 percentage points to 223% in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s 

period. of the 53 percentage point increase, approximately 40 percentage points were due to the elimination of the government 

guarantee fund and the reversal of the exit fees previously accrued. the remaining increase was related primarily to an increase 

in retained earnings from the Company’s continued profitability, net of dividends paid and the decline in unrealized investment 

portfolio gains. 

net income decreased by $133 million, or 59%, to $93 million, and net operating income decreased by $141 million, or 62%, to 

$85 million, primarily the result of the $137 million after-tax impact of the reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fees into 

investment income that occurred in the prior year’s period. excluding the $137 million, net income increased by $4 million, or 4% 

to $93 million, due to higher net gains on investments and lower losses on claims, partially offset by lower earned premium, higher 

expenses and a higher effective tax rate. excluding the $137 million, net operating income decreased by $4 million, or 4%, due to lower 

earned premium, higher expenses and a higher effective tax rate, partially offset by lower losses on claims.

(1)  The impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal resulted in $186 million of additional investment income in the fourth quarter of 2012, consisting of $166 million related to 
exit fees accrued in 2011 and prior years and a further $20 million accrued for the first nine months of 2012.
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Full year performance
the following table sets forth the year to date results of operations for the Company’s business:

      For the twelve months ended  Increase (decrease) and 
      december 31  percentage change

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012  2013 vs. 2012

net premiums written       $ 512 $ 550 $ (38)  (7)%

net premiums earned       $ 573 $ 589 $ (16)  (3)%

Losses on claims and expenses:
 Losses on claims        142  194  (52)  (27)%
 expenses        113  105  8  8%

total losses on claims and expenses       255  298  (44)  (15)%

net underwriting income        319  291  28  10%
Investment income:
 Interest and dividend income, net of investment expenses    179  162  17  10%
 net investment gains        37  12  25  nM
 government guarantee fund earnings       —  7  (7)  nM 
 Impact of the reversal of government guarantee fund exit fees    —  186  (186)  nM

total investment income(1)        216   367   (152)  (41)%
Interest expense        (23)  (23)  —  0%

Income before income taxes        511   635   (124)  (19)%
provision for income taxes        136  164  (28)  (17)%

net income(1)       $ 375 $ 470  $ (95)  (20)%
adjustment to net income: 
 net investment gains, net of taxes       (26)  (9)  (17)  nM

net operating income(1),(2)       $ 349  $ 462  $ (113)   (24)%

effective tax rate        26.7%  25.9%  —  1%
Selected non-IFRS financial measures(2)       
Loss ratio        25%  33%  —  (8) pts
expense ratio        20%  18%  —  2 pts
Combined ratio        44%  51%  —   (6) pts
operating return on equity(1)        12%  17%  —   (5) pts
Investment yield        3.7%  4.0%  —  (0.3) pts

Notes: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
The Company defines NM as “not meaningful” for increases or decreases greater than 100%.
(1)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $166 million, related to 2011 and prior years, adjusted IFRS and non-IFRS financial 

measures for the year 2012 would have been adjusted net investment income $201 million, adjusted net income $348 million, adjusted net operating income $339 million, and adjusted 
operating return on equity 13%.

(2) These financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
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2013 compared to 2012
new insurance written on high loan-to-value mortgages decreased by $1.4 billion, or 7%, to $20 billion in the twelve months ended 

december 31, 2013, as compared to the prior year’s period, primarily due to a $2.0 billion decrease in new insurance written on 

refinance transactions partially offset by a $0.6 billion increase in new insurance written on purchase transactions. the Company 

believes the increase in high loan-to-value new insurance written on purchase transactions was primarily the result of a slightly larger 

mortgage originations market in 2013, after the impact of the July 2012 change in the government guarantee eligibility rules that 

reduced the maximum amortization from 30 to 25 years, as compared to the prior year’s period. the decrease in refinance transactions 

was also due to the July 2012 change in the government guarantee eligibility rules, which reduced the maximum loan-to-value on 

refinance transactions from 85% to 80%, as compared to the prior year’s period. the Company expects refinance transactions to 

represent a small portion of new insurance written in the foreseeable future. 

new insurance written on low loan-to-value mortgages was $15.5 billion in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, as compared 

to $20.4 billion in the prior year’s period, as a result of fewer low loan-to-value mortgage insurance opportunities. 

net premiums written decreased by $38 million, or 7%, to $512 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 as compared 

to the prior year’s period, primarily the result of $36 million in lower premiums from high loan-to-value new insurance written, and 

$13 million of lower low loan-to-value new insurance written, partially offset by $10 million from the elimination of the risk premium 

related to the government guarantee agreement. Compared to the prior year’s period, the decrease in premiums from high loan-to-

value new insurance written was the result of a smaller high loan-to-value mortgage origination market for refinance transactions and 

a higher mix of 25-year amortization mortgages, which have a lower premium rate compared to mortgages with a 30-year amortization 

period, partially offset by a slightly larger high loan-to-value mortgage originations market for purchase transactions. 

premiums from low loan-to-value mortgages were $65 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, as compared to 

$77 million in the prior year’s period, as a result of fewer low loan-to-value mortgage insurance opportunities. the Company is proactively 

managing its total government guarantee exposure and believes there is ample room within the $300 billion private insurers’ cap to 

continue to write its anticipated levels of both high and low loan-to-value volumes of insured mortgages into the foreseeable future. 

net premiums earned decreased by $16 million, or 3%, to $573 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 as compared 

to the prior year’s period. the decline was primarily the result of smaller earnings curve adjustments. earnings curve adjustments in the 

twelve months ended december 31, 2013 were $12 million as compared to $27 million in the prior year’s period. reduced earnings 

from the large 2007 and 2008 books of business were offset by the elimination of the risk premium in the twelve months ended 

december 31, 2013 as compared to a $10 million risk premium in the prior year’s period. the risk premium was replaced by a risk fee 

equal to 2.25% of gross premiums written, which was $12 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013. the risk fee is 

accounted for as a premium acquisition expense and is initially deferred and then expensed in proportion to and over the period in which 

premiums are earned.

Losses on claims decreased by $52 million, or 27%, to $142 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 as compared to 

the prior year’s period. the decrease in losses on claims was primarily due to strong portfolio quality, declining unemployment rates 

and modest home price appreciation. this led to an overall decrease in new reported delinquencies, as compared to the prior year’s 

period, as well as a shift in mix, with fewer new reported delinquencies from the alberta 2007 and 2008 books, where the severity on 

claims paid has typically been higher than severity on claims paid in other provinces. the Company continues to realize savings from 

its loss mitigation programs, including workout and asset management initiatives, which also contributed to lower losses on claims. 

as compared to the prior year’s period, the loss ratio decreased 8 percentage points, to 25%, primarily due to the decrease in losses.
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expenses increased $8 million, or 8%, in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, primarily due to an increase in share-based 

compensation expense, as compared to the prior year’s period. Share-based compensation expense of $11 million in 2013 was 

$8 million higher as compared to the prior year due to the increase in the Company’s share price from $22.59 at december 31, 2012 

to $36.63 at december 31, 2013. as compared to the prior year’s period, the expense ratio increased 2 percentage points to 20%, 

approximately 1 percentage point due to the higher expenses and approximately 1 percentage point due to the lower earned premium, 

as compared to the prior year’s period.

excluding the $186 million1 reversal of the government guarantee fund exit fee in the fourth quarter of 2012, interest and dividend 

income from the investment portfolio, inclusive of government guarantee fund earnings, increased by $10 million, or 6%, to $179 million 

in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 as compared to the prior year’s period. the $10 million increase was primarily the 

result of the elimination of $20 million of exit fees related to the government guarantee fund, partially offset by $10 million lower net 

investment income resulting from lower fixed income investment yields, as compared to the prior year’s period. dividend income of 

$9 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 was $3 million lower than in the prior year’s period, consistent with the 

decrease in common equities held in the portfolio. the pre-tax equivalent investment yield declined 0.3 percentage points, to 3.7, as 

compared to the prior year’s period, primarily related to the decline in fixed income reinvestment yields and lower common equity 

holdings. the Company recorded $37 million net investment gains in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, primarily from the 

sale of equities, as compared to $12 million in the prior year’s period. 

Interest expense remained flat at $23 million in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013 as compared to the prior year’s period.

the effective tax rate of 26.7% increased by approximately 80 basis points in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, as 

compared to the prior year’s period. In the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, additional taxes of approximately $2 million 

resulted from higher share-based compensation expense, a significant portion of which is non-deductible, and additional taxes 

of approximately $1 million from lower non-taxable dividend income, as compared to the prior year’s period. the twelve months 

ended december 31, 2012 included $2 million of tax benefits from the recognition of tax losses available for carryforward related to 

pMI Mortgage Insurance Company Canada, a new subsidiary acquired in the fourth quarter of 2012, offset by a $2 million increase in 

taxes in 2012 related to the impact of an increase in the ontario provincial tax rate on the Company’s cumulative deferred income taxes 

which was comprised primarily of timing differences associated with the government guarantee fund. the combined basic federal and 

provincial income tax rate of 26% was relatively unchanged as compared to the prior year’s period.

the MCt ratio increased approximately 53 percentage points to 223% in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to the prior year’s 

period. of the 53 percentage point increase, approximately 40 percentage points were due to the elimination of the government 

guarantee fund and the reversal of the exit fees previously accrued. the remaining increase was related primarily to an increase 

in retained earnings from the Company’s continued profitability, net of dividends paid and the decline in unrealized investment 

portfolio gains.

net income decreased by $95 million, or 20%, to $375 million, and net operating income decreased by $113 million, or 24%, to 

$349 million, in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, primarily the result of the $137 million after-tax impact of the reversal 

of the government guarantee fund exit fee into investment income, as compared to the prior year’s period. excluding the $137 million, 

net income increased by $41 million, or 12%, to $375 million and net operating income increased by $24 million, or 8%, primarily due to 

lower losses on claims and higher investment income partially offset by higher expenses, lower earned premiums and a higher effective 

tax rate.

(1)  The impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal resulted in $186 million of additional investment income in the fourth quarter of 2012, consisting of $166 million related to 
exit fees accrued in 2011 and prior years and a further $20 million accrued for the first nine months of 2012.



Management’s discussion and analysis (continued)
For the year ended december 31, 2013

20 genworth MI Canada InC. 2013 annUaL report

Statement of financial position highlights and selected financial data 
 
      As at as at  Increase (decrease) and 
      December 31 december 31  percentage change

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012  2013 vs. 2012

Investments:    
general portfolio       $ 5,375 $ 4,400  $ 975   22%
government guarantee fund        —  979  (979)  nM
other assets        241  264  (23)  (9)%
Subrogation recoverable        76  91  (16)  (17)%

total assets        5,691  5,734  (43)  (1)%
Unearned premium reserves        1,724  1,785  (61)  (3)%
Loss reserves        117   139  (22)  (16)%
Long-term debt        423  422  1  0%
other liabilities        340   351  (11)  (3)%

total liabilities        2,604   2,697   (93)  (3)%
Shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI(1)       2,963  2,816  147  5%
accumulated other comprehensive income (“aoCI”)     124   221  (97)  (44)%

Shareholders’ equity        3,087  3,037  50  2%
total liabilities and shareholders’ equity      $ 5,691  $ 5,734 $ (43)  (1)%

Selected non-IFRS financial measures(1)    
MCt ratio        223%  170%  —   53 pts

Book value per common share    
number of common shares outstanding (basic)     94,910,880  98,698,018  (3,787,138)  (4)%
Book value per common share including aoCI (basic)    $ 32.53  $ 30.77  $ 1.76   6%
Book value per common share excluding aoCI (basic)    $ 31.22  $ 28.53  $ 2.69   9%
    
number of common shares outstanding (diluted)     94,918,169  99,174,050  (4,255,881)  (4)%
Book value per common share including aoCI (diluted)(2)     $ 32.53 $ 30.62 $ 1.91  6%
Book value per common share excluding aoCI (diluted)(2)     $ 31.22 $ 28.40 $ 2.82  10%
Dividends paid per common share during the year(3)    $ 1.31 $ 1.19   

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
The Company defines NM as “not meaningful” for increases or decreases greater than 100%.
(1) These financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
(2) The difference between basic and diluted number of common shares outstanding is caused by the potentially dilutive impact of share-based compensation awards.
(3) Dividends paid per common share reflect payment for the full year of 2013 and 2012.
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the table below shows the one-year development of the Company’s loss reserves for the five most recent completed years.

Reserve development analysis
     As at as at as at as at as at 
     Dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)   2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

total loss reserves, at the beginning of the year  $ 139 $ 169 $ 207 $ 236 $ 172
Loss reserves for prior years’ delinquent loans,  
 remaining at the end of the year (a)     10  26  45  67  71

Change in loss reserves for prior years’ delinquent loans   129  143  162  169  101
paid claims for prior years’ delinquent loans    (139)  (193)  (214)  (200)  (160)

Favourable (unfavourable) development    $ (10) $ (51) $ (52) $ (31) $ (59)
as a percentage of total loss reserves,  
 at the beginning of the year      (7)%  (30)%  (25)%  (13)%  (34)%
Loss reserves for current year’s delinquent loans,  
 at the end of the year (B)     $ 108 $ 113 $ 124 $ 140 $ 166

total loss reserves at the end of the year (a+B)  $ 118 $ 139 $ 169 $ 207 $ 236

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 

the Company’s loss-reserving methodology, including reserve development, is reviewed on a monthly basis and incorporates the most 

current available information. the Company’s outstanding reserves represent the Company’s current best estimate of the ultimate cost 

of settling claims, in each case as of the date such reserves are established and based on the information available at such time.

the Company experienced modest adverse reserve development in 2013 of $10 million, or 7% of the total loss reserves at the 

beginning of the year. the Company uses third party appraisals to determine the expected net property proceeds, and has observed 

that the initial appraisal value often exceeds the ultimate sales price. the province of Québec and the atlantic provinces accounted for 

the majority of the adverse development in 2013. another contributing factor was a settlement related to a small number of claims 

in alberta.

the Company regularly reviews the underlying drivers of its loss reserves development and adjusts its reserving practices accordingly. 

as a result of these adjustments, the adverse development in 2013 was the lowest level the Company has experienced in the past 

five years.
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Financial instruments 

Portfolio of invested assets

effective January 1, 2013, the investment portfolio reflects the combination of assets from the general portfolio and the previous 

guarantee fund portfolio, and for comparative purposes the below table includes assets from the government guarantee fund of 

$949 million. as of december 31, 2013, the Company had total cash, cash equivalents and invested assets of $5.4 billion in the portfolio. 

all of the Company’s invested assets are classified as available-for-sale (“aFS”). Fair value measurements for aFS securities are based 

on quoted market prices for identical assets when available. In the event an active market does not exist, estimated fair values are based 

on recent transactions or current prices for similar securities. Unrealized gains on aFS securities in the portfolio were $177 million. the 

Company’s investment yield for the full year 2013 was 3.7%, which includes the favourable impact of non-taxable dividend income.

the following table presents the Company’s invested assets by asset class for the portfolio.

Asset class

      As at December 31, 2013 as at december 31, 2012

       Unrealized 
(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)   Fair value % gains  Fair value %

asset-backed fixed income      $ 8  0% $ 0  $ 65   1%

Corporate fixed income         
 Financials      1,281   24%  47   1,172   22%
 energy      311   6%  10   315   6%
 Infrastructure      230   4%  9   260   5%
 all other sectors      451   8%  9   430   8%

total corporate fixed income      2,272   42%  75   2,177   40%

government fixed income         
Canadian short-term federal t-bills     40   1%  —  90   2%
Canadian federal fixed income      1,810   34%  43   748   14%
Canadian provincial fixed income     846   16%  35   744   14%
Canadian federal fixed income – government guarantee fund  —  —  —  949   18%

total government fixed income     2,696   50%  78   2,531   47%

Common shares         
 energy       38   1%  4   92   2%
 Financials      47   1%  5   44   1%
 Communication      21   0%  5   71   1%
 all other sectors      78   1%  9   121   2%

total common shares      184   3%  24   328   6%

total invested assets     $ 5,161   96% $ 177  $ 5,101   95%
Cash and cash equivalents      214   4%  —  248   5%
Cash and cash equivalents – government guarantee fund   —  —  —  41   1%

       $ 5,375  — $ 177 $ 5,390   —

accrued income – government guarantee fund   —  —  —  3  —
Mortgage Insurance Company Canada liability    —  —  —  (14)  —

total invested assets and cash     $ 5,375   100% $ 177  $ 5,380   100%

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
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the Company assigns credit ratings based on the asset risk guidelines as outlined in the minimum capital test guideline published by 

oSFI in January 2013. Based on this guideline, the Company assigns ratings from dBrS when available. the majority of the assets in 

the Company’s current investment portfolio have a dBrS rating. In the absence of a dBrS rating, the Company assigns the higher of 

Standard & poor’s or Fitch rating Services ratings. 

the following table presents the Company’s invested assets by credit rating for the portfolio.

Credit rating (excluding common shares)

       As at  as at  
       Dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

        Unrealized 
(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    Fair value % gains (losses)  Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents       $ 214  4% $ — $ 248
Cash and cash equivalents – government guarantee fund     —  —  —  41
aaa          1,935  37%  47  1,110
aaa – government guarantee fund       —  —  —  949
aa          1,016  20%  47  1,252
a           1,665  32%  59  1,289
BBB          353  7%  1  173
Below BBB        7  —  (1)  —

total invested assets and cash (excluding common shares)   $ 5,190  100% $ 153 $ 5,062

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 

Investment portfolio management

the Company manages its portfolio assets to meet liquidity, credit quality, diversification and yield objectives by investing primarily in 

fixed income securities, including federal and provincial government bonds and corporate bonds. the Company also holds short-term 

investments and common shares. In all cases, investments are required to comply with restrictions imposed by law and insurance 

regulatory authorities as well as the Company’s own investment policy, which has been approved by the Board. 

to diversify management styles and to broaden credit resources, the Company has split these assets between three external Canadian 

investment managers. the Company works with these managers to optimize the performance of the portfolios within the stated 

investment objectives outlined in its investment policy. the policy takes into account the current and expected condition of capital 

markets, the historical return profiles of various asset classes and the variability of those returns over time, the availability of assets, 

diversification needs and benefits, the regulatory capital required to support the various asset types, security ratings and other material 

variables likely to affect the overall performance of the Company’s investment portfolio. Compliance with the investment policy is 

monitored by the Company and reviewed at least quarterly with the Company’s management-level investment committee and the risk, 

Capital and Investment Committee of the Board.

Asset-backed fixed income securities

the Company held $8 million in asset-backed securities as of december 31, 2013, as compared to $65 million, or 1%, of consumer 

finance securitizations as of december 31, 2012. the decrease is primarily the result of the maturities of asset-backed securities during 

the period.
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Corporate fixed income securities

as of december 31, 2013, approximately 42% of the investment portfolio was held in corporate fixed income securities, up 

2 percentage points, from 40% at the end of 2012. Securities rated below a were $360 million, or 7% of invested assets, as of 

december 31, 2013. the investment policy limits the percentage of the portfolio that can be invested in any single issuer or group of 

related issuers. Financial sector exposure represents 24% of the investment portfolio, or approximately 56% of the corporate fixed 

income securities, as financial institutions represent greater than 50% of the corporate issuances of fixed income securities in the 

Canadian marketplace. the Company continuously monitors and repositions its exposure to the financial services sector. 

Canadian government fixed income securities

the Company’s investment policy requires that a minimum of 30% of the investment portfolio be invested in sovereign fixed income 

securities. as of december 31, 2013, 34% of the portfolio was invested in federal securities, as compared to 34% at the end of 2012. 

provincial holdings increased to 16% of the portfolio, as compared to 14% at the end of 2012. 

Short-term federal treasury bills held by the Company consist primarily of short-term investments with original maturities greater 

than 90 days and less than 365 days. the Company held 1% in Canadian short-term treasury bills in the investment portfolio as of 

december 31, 2013, as compared to 2% at the end of 2012.

Common shares

the Company had $184 million invested in high dividend-yielding, relatively low-volatility Canadian common shares as of 

december 31, 2013, representing 3% of the investment portfolio. the energy and financial sectors represent approximately 46% of the 

common shares held by the Company and the remaining holdings are diversified across the other sectors of companies listed on the 

toronto Stock exchange. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash in bank accounts and government treasury bills with original maturities of 90 days or 

less. the Company determines its target cash holdings based on near-term liquidity needs, market conditions and perceived favourable 

future investment opportunities. the Company’s cash holdings in the investment portfolio decreased from $289 million, which included 

$41 million related to the government guarantee fund, as of december 31, 2012 to $214 million as of december 31, 2013. the decrease 

in cash is partially the result of the repurchase of approximately $105 million worth of common shares under the normal course issuer 

bid (“nCIB”) and net bond purchases during the period.



genworth MI Canada InC. 2013 annUaL report 25

Summary of annual information
the table shown below presents select income statement line items and certain key performance indicators for the last three years.

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)     2013  2012 2011

net premiums written         $ 512 $ 550 $ 533

net premiums earned          573  589  612
Losses on claims          142  194  225
net underwriting income           319  291  287
total investment income (including impact of reversal of exit fees)(1),(3)     216  367  179
 Impact of the reversal of government guarantee fund exit fees     —  166  —

net income(3)          375  470  323
adjustment to net income:   
net gains in investments, net of taxes         (26)  (9)  (5)

net operating income(2,(3)         $ 349 $ 462 $ 318

Earnings per common share ratios   
earnings per common share (basic)(3)        $ 3.86 $ 4.77 $ 3.18
earnings per common share (diluted)(3)        $ 3.86 $ 4.76 $ 3.13

Selected non-IFRS financial measures(2)   
Loss ratio           25%  33%  37%
expense ratio          20%  18%  17%
Combined ratio          44%  51%  53%

operating earnings per common share (basic)(3)      $ 3.60 $ 4.68 $ 3.13
operating earnings per common share (diluted)(3)      $ 3.60 $ 4.67 $ 3.08
operating return on equity(3)          12%  17%  13%

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding.
(1) Includes net realized (gains) losses on sale of available-for-sale investments and change in unrealized losses of fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) investments.
(2) The financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
(3)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal of $166 million, related to 2011 and prior years, non-IFRS financial measures for the full year of 2012 would have 

been net investment income $201 million, adjusted net income $348 million, adjusted net operating income $339 million and operating return on equity 13%. 

the table shown below presents additional annual information for the years ending 2013, 2012 and 2011.

       as at december 31

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)     2013  2012 2011

total invested assets and cash        $ 5,375 $ 5,380 $ 5,063

total assets          5,691  5,734  5,393
total liabilities          2,604  2,697  2,710
total shareholders’ equity          3,087  3,037  2,683

dividends paid per common share        $ 1.31 $ 1.19 $ 1.57
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Summary of quarterly results
the table shown below presents select income statement line items and certain key performance indicators for the last eight quarters.  

See “outlook” and “Seasonality” sections at the beginning of this Md&a for further details.

(In millions, unless otherwise specified) Q4’13 Q3’13 Q2’13 Q1’13 Q4’12 Q3’12 Q2’12 Q1’12

net premiums written $ 129  $ 161  $ 137  $ 84 $ 117 $ 178  $ 176  $ 79 

net premiums earned  142   143   143   144   147   147   148   147 
Losses on claims  31   32   35   44   46   44   48   56 
net underwriting income   78   84   82   74   73     77     76   65 
total investment income  
 (including impact of reversal  
 of exit fees)(1)    56     51     59     50    233     44     40    50 
 Impact of reversal of  
  government guarantee  
  fund exit fees   —   —   —   —    186   —  —  —
net income(1)    93     96   98     88     226     85     79    81 
adjustment to net income:        
net investment gains, net of taxes   (8)   (5)  (10)  (3)  —  (4)  —  (5)

net operating income(1),(2)  $ 85  $ 91 $ 88  $ 85  $ 226  $ 81  $ 79 $ 76 

Earnings per common share ratios        
earnings per common  
 share (basic)(1)  $ 0.98  $ 0.99   $ 1.00  $ 0.89   $ 2.29   $ 0.86   $ 0.80   $ 0.82 
earnings per common  
 share (diluted)(1),(3)  $ 0.98   $ 0.99   $ 1.00   $ 0.89   $ 2.29   $ 0.86   $ 0.79  $ 0.82 

Selected non-IFRS 
 financial measures(2)        
Loss ratio  22%  22%  25%  31%  31%  30%  32%  38%
expense ratio  23%  19%  18%  18%  19%  18%  17%  18%
Combined ratio  45%  41%  43%  49%  50%  48%  49%  56%

operating earnings per  
 common share (basic)(1)  $ 0.90   $ 0.94   $ 0.90   $ 0.86   $ 2.29   $ 0.82   $ 0.80  $ 0.77 
operating earnings per  
 common share (diluted)(1),(3)  $ 0.90   $ 0.94   $ 0.89   $ 0.86   $ 2.28   $ 0.82   $ 0.79  $ 0.77 
operating return on equity(1)  12%  13%  12%  12%  33%  12%  12%  12%

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding. 
(1)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal into investment income of $186 million in the fourth quarter of 2012, adjusted IFRS and non-IFRS financial 

measures for the fourth quarter of 2012 would have been adjusted net investment income $47 million, adjusted net income $89 million, adjusted net operating income $89 million, adjusted 
earnings per common share (basic) $0.90, adjusted earnings per common share (diluted) $0.90, adjusted operating earnings per common share (basic) $0.90, adjusted operating earnings 
per common share (diluted) $0.90, and adjusted operating return on equity 13%. 

(2)  These financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. See the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section at the end of this MD&A for additional information.
(3)  The difference between basic and diluted earnings per common share and basic and diluted operating earnings per common share is caused by the potentially dilutive impact of share-

based compensation awards.
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Liquidity 
the purpose of liquidity management is to ensure there is sufficient cash to meet all of the Company’s financial commitments and 

obligations as they fall due. the Company believes it has the flexibility to obtain, from current cash holdings and ongoing operations, the 

funds needed to fulfill its cash requirements during the current financial year and to satisfy regulatory capital requirements. 

the following table provides a summary of the Company’s cash flows:

         December 31 december 31

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)       2013 2012

Cash provided by (used in):
operating activities            $  366 $ 186 
Financing activities            (231)   (117) 
Investing activities              (170)  107 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents         (34)  176 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period         248  72 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period           $  214  $  248 

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding.

the Company generated $366 million of cash flows from operating activities in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, as 

compared to $186 million in the prior year’s period, primarily the result of lower claims paid, lower taxes paid and cash holdings obtained 

from the reversal of the government guarantee fund. the Company utilized $231 million of cash flows for financing activities in the 

twelve months ended december 31, 2013, primarily for the repurchase of common shares under a normal course issuer bid (see “Share 

repurchase” section for further details) and payment of dividends as compared to the utilization of $117 million of cash flows for the 

payment of dividends in the prior year’s period. the Company utilized $170 million of cash flows for investing activities, primarily for 

the purchase of additional fixed income assets in the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, as compared to having generated 

$107 million in the prior year’s period. 

the Company maintains a portion of its investment portfolio in cash and liquid securities to meet working capital requirements and other 

financial commitments. as of december 31, 2013, the Company held liquid assets of $949 million maturing within one year, comprised 

of $214 million in cash and cash equivalents, and the remaining in bonds and debentures and short-term investments in order to 

maintain financial flexibility. as at the end of the fourth quarter of 2013, the duration of the fixed income portfolio was 3.7 years. 

the Company has five primary sources of funds, consisting of premiums written from operations, investment income, cash and short-

term investments, investment maturities or sales, and proceeds from the issuance of debt and equity. Including securities and cash, 

54%, or $2,910 million, of the Company’s investment portfolio comprises federal and provincial government securities for which there is 

a highly liquid market. Funds are used primarily for operating expenses, claims payments, and interest expense, as well as dividends and 

other distributions to shareholders. potential liquidity risks are discussed in more detail in the “risk Factors” section of the Company’s 

annual information form (“aIF”) dated March 18, 2013.
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the Company leases office space, office equipment, computer equipment and automobiles. Future minimum rental commitments for 

non-cancellable leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, long-term debt and loss reserves consist of the following at 

december 31, 2013:

Contractual obligations     payment dates due by period

       Less than 1–3 4–5 after 5 
(In thousands)    total 1 year years years years

Long-term debt(1)       $ 425,000 $ — $ 150,000 $ — $ 275,000
operating leases        7,803  2,347  4,043  1,413  —
Loss reserves         117,388  67,034  50,354  —  —

total contractual obligations       $ 550,191 $ 69,381 $ 204,397 $ 1,413 $ 275,000

(1) See “Debt outstanding” section below for more details.

operating lease expense for the year ended december 31, 2013 was $3 million, consistent with $3 million for the prior year. 

Off-balance sheet arrangements 
derivative financial instruments are used by the Company for hedging purposes and for the purpose of modifying the risk profile of the 

Company’s investment portfolio, as long as the resulting exposures are within the Company’s investment policy guidelines, which have 

been approved by the Board of directors. 

during the year ended december 31, 2013, the Company used derivative financial instruments in the form of foreign currency forwards 

to mitigate foreign currency risk associated with bonds denominated in U.S. dollars and australian dollars pledged to collateralize 

reinsurance obligations. Foreign currency forwards are contractual obligations, with a Schedule I Canadian bank, to exchange one 

currency for another at a predetermined future date.

the following table shows the fair value and notional amounts of the derivatives by terms of maturity, in Canadian dollars.

      notional amount 

     Fair 1 year 1–3 3–5 over 5  
(In thousands)   value or less years years  years total

december 31, 2013: Foreign currency forwards   $ (2,668) $ 28,500 $ — $ 13,710 $ 133,580 $ 175,790
december 31, 2012 : Foreign currency forwards     —   —   —   —   —   —

Debt outstanding 
the following table provides details of the Company’s long-term debt:

Contractual obligations     payment dates due by period

       Less than 1–3 3–5 after 5 
(In thousands)    total 1 year years years years

Long-term debt       $ 425,000 $ — $ 150,000 $ — $ 275,000

        Series 1  Series 2

date issued          June 29, 2010 december 16, 2010
Maturity date          June 15, 2020 december 15, 2015
principal amount outstanding (in millions)         $275 $150
Fixed annual rate          5.68% 4.59%
Semi-annual interest payments due each year on      June 15, december 15 June 15, december 15 
debenture ratings 
 Standard & poor’s (“S&p”)         a- (Stable outlook)  a- (Stable outlook) 
 dBrS          aa (Low)  aa (Low)
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the principal debt covenants associated with the debentures are as follows:

1. a negative pledge under which the Company will not assume or create any security interest (other than permitted encumbrances) 

unless the debentures are secured equally and ratably with (or prior to) such obligation.

2. the Company will not, nor will it permit any of its subsidiaries to, amalgamate, consolidate or merge with or into any other 

person or liquidate, wind up or dissolve itself unless (a) the Company or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries is the continuing or 

successor company or (b) if the successor company is not a wholly-owned subsidiary, at the time of, and after giving effect to, such 

transaction no event of default and no event that, after notice or lapse of time, or both, would become an event of default shall 

have happened and be continuing under the trust indenture, in each case subject to certain exceptions and limitations set forth in 

the trust indenture.

3. the Company will not request that the rating agencies withdraw their ratings of the debentures.

In the case of certain events of default under the terms of the debentures issued by the Company in 2010, the aggregate unpaid 

principal amount of such debentures, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and any other amounts owing with respect 

thereto, shall become immediately due and payable. the events of default that would trigger such an acceleration of payment include if 

the Company takes certain voluntary insolvency actions, such as instituting proceedings for its winding up, liquidation or dissolution, or 

consents to the filing of such proceedings against it; or if involuntary insolvency proceedings go uncontested by the Company or are not 

dismissed within a specified time period; or if the final order sought in such proceedings is granted against the Company. 

For more specific details on the terms and conditions of the debentures, please see the trust indenture of the Company dated June 29,  

2010, a copy of which is available on the System for electronic document analysis and retrieval (“Sedar”) website at www.sedar.com.

Capital expenditures
the Company’s capital expenditures primarily relate to technology investments aimed at improving operational efficiency and 

effectiveness for sales, underwriting, risk management and loss mitigation. For the fourth quarter of 2013 and the twelve months 

ended december 31, 2013, the Company invested $1 million and $3 million, respectively, for underwriting, loss mitigation and risk 

management technologies. the Company expects that future capital expenditures will continue to be focused on underwriting, loss 

mitigation, and risk management technology improvements. the Company expects that capital expenditures in 2014 will be in the 

$3 million to $5 million range and it is anticipated that such expenditures will be funded primarily from operating cash flows. 

Capital management
the Insurance Subsidiary is regulated by oSFI. Under the MCt, an insurer calculates a ratio of capital available to capital required in a 

prescribed manner. Mortgage insurers are required to maintain a minimum ratio of core capital (capital available as defined for MCt 

purposes, but excluding subordinated debt) to required capital of 100%. 

when prMhIa came into force on January 1, 2013, the government guarantee fund was eliminated in favour of a higher MCt ratio. 

previously, the government guarantee fund was accounted for as an asset on the Company’s balance sheet and was excluded from the 

calculation of regulatory capital available. the Minister of Finance advised the Company on december 19, 2012 that under prMhIa and 

the Insurance Companies Act (Canada) (“ICa”), the minimum MCt ratio for the Insurance Subsidiary will be 175%. In conjunction with 

this new requirement, the Insurance Subsidiary increased its internal MCt target capital ratio on January 1, 2013 to 185% and expects 

to operate with an MCt above 190% in the normal course. 
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the Insurance Subsidiary’s regulatory capital available increased on January 1, 2013 by approximately $678 million from the elimination 

of the government guarantee fund and the reversal of the exit fees previously accrued, net of the related income tax effect. the 

regulatory capital required increased by approximately $61 million related to capital required for interest rate risk. this increase relates 

to the addition of the fixed income securities previously held in the government guarantee fund to interest-sensitive assets and the 

increase of the interest rate shock from 50 basis points to 75 basis points effective January 1, 2013. as a result of these events, the 

MCt ratio of 170% as at december 31, 2012 increased by approximately 40 percentage points to 210% as at January 1, 2013.

the table below illustrates the MCt at december 31, 2012, adjusted for the impact of the new guarantee framework and the increase in 

capital required for interest rate risk as at January 1, 2013, as well as the MCt at december 31, 2013. 

Minimum capital test 
       as at december 31 adjustments as at January 1 As at December 31

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)     2012  2013 2013

Capital available      $ 2,339 $ 678 $ 3,017 $ 3,197
Capital required      $ 1,375 $ 61 $ 1,436  $ 1,436 

MCt ratio        170%    210%  223% 

as at december 31, 2013, the MCt ratio of the Insurance Subsidiary was approximately 223%, up 13 percentage points from 

January 1, 2013, which is the result of the Company’s continued profitability, net of dividends paid, partially offset by a decrease in 

unrealized investment gains. 

Capital above the amount required to meet the Insurance Subsidiary’s MCt ratio targets could be used to support organic growth of the 

business or declaration and payment of dividends or other distributions, and if distributed to genworth Canada, to repurchase common 

shares of the Company, for acquisitions, for repayment of debt, or for such other uses as permitted by law and approved by the Board.

as part of an ongoing effort to improve the estimate of outstanding insurance exposure, the Company surveys its largest customers, on 

a quarterly basis, to obtain the amount of the outstanding balances. as a result, the Company estimates that the outstanding balance of 

insured mortgages was approximately $160 billion as at September 30, 2013. this is based on the extrapolation of the amounts reported 

by lenders surveyed, which represent approximately 90% of the entire insured population. the Company believes that this does not 

have an impact on the premium recognition curve, which is based on the pattern of loss emergence. Under prMhIa, the cap for all 

private mortgage insurers is $300 billion as set by the Minister of Finance. 

Share repurchase 
In april 2013, the Board authorized an nCIB to purchase up to 4,937,078 common shares of the Company, representing approximately 

5% of its outstanding common shares. Under the terms of the nCIB, the Company may purchase common shares for cancellation on 

the open market, including from the Company’s majority shareholder, genworth Financial, Inc.

during the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, the Company completed the purchase and cancellation of 3,903,117 common 

shares under the nCIB for $105 million, consisting of 2,240,996 common shares from genworth Financial, Inc. and 1,662,121 common 

shares from the general public. there were 94,910,880 common shares issued and outstanding at december 31, 2013. 

purchases of common shares may continue until the earlier of May 2, 2014 and the date on which the Company has purchased the 

maximum number of shares under the nCIB. the Company’s majority shareholder, genworth Financial, Inc., has maintained and is 

expected to continue to maintain its 57.4% ownership interest in the Company throughout the course of the nCIB. Shareholders may 

obtain a copy of the nCIB notice, without charge, by contacting the Company.
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Restrictions on dividends and capital transactions
the Company’s Insurance Subsidiary is subject to certain restrictions with respect to dividends and capital transactions. the ICa 

prohibits directors from declaring or paying any dividend on shares of an insurance company if there are reasonable grounds for believing 

that the company is, or the payment of the dividend would cause the company to be, in contravention of applicable requirements 

to maintain adequate capital, liquidity and assets. the ICa also requires an insurance company to notify oSFI of the declaration of a 

dividend at least 15 days prior to the date fixed for its payment. Similarly, the ICa prohibits the purchase for cancellation of any shares 

issued by an insurance company or the redemption of any redeemable shares or other similar capital transactions if there are reasonable 

grounds for believing that the company is, or the payment would cause the company to be, in contravention of applicable requirements 

to maintain adequate capital, liquidity and assets. Share cancellation or redemption would also require the prior approval of oSFI. Finally, 

oSFI has broad authority to take actions that could restrict the ability of an insurance company to pay dividends.

Financial strength ratings 
the Insurance Subsidiary has financial strength ratings from both S&p and dBrS. although the Insurance Subsidiary is not required 

to have ratings to conduct its business, ratings are helpful to maintain confidence in an insurer and in the marketing of its products. 

the Insurance Subsidiary is rated aa- (Very Strong), with a stable outlook, by S&p, and aa (Superior), with a stable outlook, by dBrS. the 

ratings from S&p were affirmed in June 2013 and the outlook remained stable, reflecting current macroeconomic considerations. the 

ratings from dBrS were confirmed in September 2013. 

the Company has a counterparty credit rating and debenture ratings from S&p of a-, with a positive outlook, and an issuer rating from 

dBrS of aa (Low). the rating from S&p is a function of the financial strength rating on the Company’s Insurance Subsidiary and its 

structural subordination to the policyholders of its Insurance Subsidiary. S&p has applied its standard notching criteria of three notches 

between an operating company and a holding company for the Insurance Subsidiary and the Company, respectively. the rating from 

dBrS is a function of the structural subordination of the parent’s financial obligations relative to those of the regulated operating 

subsidiary. dBrS applied a one-notch differential between the Insurance Subsidiary and the Company. 

Significant new accounting policies

Risk fee

the following accounting policy pertains to the risk fee, which became applicable to the Company when the prMhIa became effective 

on January 1, 2013.

In conjunction with receiving credit support in the form of the government of Canada guarantee, as prescribed in the prMhIa, the 

Company is subject to a risk fee equal to 2.25% of gross premiums written. the Company records the risk fee in premium taxes and 

underwriting fees in the consolidated statement of income. the risk fee relates directly to the acquisition of new mortgage insurance 

business. accordingly, it is deferred and expensed in proportion to and over the period in which premiums are earned.

Derivative financial instruments 

derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from an underlying interest rate, foreign exchange rate, 

equity or commodity instrument or index. 

derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVtpL”) and are recognized in the consolidated 

statement of financial position as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 

while the Company has the ability to net settle multiple financial derivative instruments under a master netting arrangement, the 

Company does not meet the accounting requirements to offset derivative assets and liabilities. accordingly, each derivative financial 

instrument is presented as an asset or a liability based on the fair value of the individual instrument. 

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in net investment gains 

(losses) during the period in which they arise. 
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Reinsurance

reinsurance contracts are those contracts under which the reinsurer agrees to indemnify the cedant against all or part of the primary 

insurance risks underwritten by the cedant under one or more insurance contracts. during the three months ended december 31, 2013, 

the Company has assumed the role of a reinsurer in the reinsurance agreement. 

reinsurance premiums are taken into underwriting revenues over the terms of the related reinsurance agreements. reinsurance 

premiums are reported in gross and net premiums written and premiums earned in the condensed consolidated interim statement 

of income.

Unpaid reinsurance premiums, if any, are reported in accrued investment income and other receivables on the condensed consolidated 

interim statement of financial position. 

Changes in accounting policies
the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, along with any consequential amendments, effective 

January 1, 2013. these changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions.

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements (“IAS 1”)

the Company has adopted the amendments to IaS 1 effective January 1, 2013. these amendments required the Company to group 

other comprehensive income items by those that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and those that will not be reclassified. 

the Company has reclassified comprehensive income items of the comparative period. these changes did not result in any adjustments 

to other comprehensive income (“oCI”) or comprehensive income. 

IAS 19 – Employee benefits (“IAS 19”)

IaS 19 (amended in 2011) amends certain accounting requirements for defined benefit plans and termination benefits.

IaS 19 (amended in 2011) requires the net defined benefit liability to be recognized on the statement of financial position without any 

deferral of actuarial gains and losses and past service costs as previously allowed. past service costs are recognized in net income when 

incurred. remeasurements consisting of actuarial gains and losses are recognized in oCI. 

the Company’s accounting policy in the most recent annual financial statements as at and for the year ended december 31, 2012 was 

to recognize actuarial gains and losses immediately in oCI and to report them in retained earnings. the Company had recognized all 

prior service costs incurred to date prior to the IFrS transition date of January 1, 2010, as all the Company’s prior service costs are 

fully vested. 

IaS 19 (amended in 2011) also clarifies that benefits are classified as long-term employee benefits if payments are not expected to be 

made within the next 12 months. the Company has reviewed the classification of its benefits and has determined that no benefits other 

than those recognized in the accrued net benefit liabilities under employee benefit plans should be classified as long-term benefits as 

the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for more than 12 months.

the standard also requires termination benefits to be recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the 

termination benefit or recognizes any related restructuring costs. the Company has not incurred such termination benefits during the 

three and twelve months ended december 31, 2013.

the adoption of IaS 19 (amended in 2011) did not result in any measurement adjustments to the Company’s employee benefits.
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IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement (“IFRS 13”)

IFrS 13 provides a single framework for measuring fair value. the measurement of the fair value of an asset or liability is based 

on assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability under current market conditions, including 

assumptions about risk. the Company adopted IFrS 13 on January 1, 2013 on a prospective basis. the adoption of IFrS 13 did not 

require any adjustments to the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure fair value and did not result in any measurement 

adjustments as at January 1, 2013. IaS 34 Interim Financial reporting requires the fair value hierarchy described in IFrS 13 to be 

applied to financial instruments. For the twelve months ended december 31, 2013, disclosure of the fair value hierarchy for financial 

instruments is included in note 9 of the Company’s financial statements. Fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is disclosed in 

note 20 of the Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements (“IFRS 10”) 

IFrS 10 replaces the guidance on control and consolidation in IaS 27 – Consolidated and separate financial statements (“IaS 27”), 

and Standing Interpretation Committee-12 – Consolidation – Special purpose entities (“SIC-12”). IFrS 10 requires consolidation of an 

investee only if the investor possesses power over the investee, has exposure to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. detailed guidance is provided on applying the definition of 

control. the accounting requirements for consolidation have remained largely consistent with IaS 27. 

the Company reassessed the control conclusion for its investees at January 1, 2013 and identified no changes to the previous 

conclusions on whether control exists and no changes affecting the consolidation structure of the Company. 

Future accounting standards

IFRS 4 – Insurance contracts 

on June 20, 2013, the International accounting Standards Board (“IaSB”) issued a revised exposure draft: Insurance Contracts (the 

“revised ed”) as part of its ongoing insurance contracts project. the revised ed takes into account the re-deliberations by the IaSB 

since its July 2010 exposure draft: Insurance Contracts ( the“2010 ed”). the issuance of the revised ed forms part of the IaSB’s efforts 

to eliminate the current diversity that exists in insurance contract accounting. 

the insurance contract measurement principles that are set out in the revised ed are similar to those in the 2010 ed: a current 

measurement model comprising the expected present value of future cash flows, a risk adjustment and a contractual service margin 

(referred to as “residual margin” in the 2010 ed). however, the IaSB made several key changes in response to comments received 

on the 2010 ed. Some of the most prominent changes relate to addressing the concerns for earnings volatility; for example, how to 

present the effect of changes in discount rates. Under the 2010 ed, changes in discount rates related to insurance contracts measured 

at present value were recorded in earnings. the revised proposals also represent a major change for the presentation of insurance 

contracts in the statement of comprehensive income. the transitional provisions have been amended to include a contractual service 

margin for existing business when implementing the future insurance standard, thereby permitting insurers to carry forward an unearned 

profit amount on transition. 

Comments on the key areas of change in the revised ed were due october 25, 2013. Based on this timeline, it is expected that a final 

standard will be issued in 2015, with implementation not expected before 2018.

the Company is currently monitoring the development of this standard and assessing the impact of its adoption. 

Significant judgments and estimates 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFrS requires management to make estimates and judgments 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts 

of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods covered by the financial statements. the principal financial statement components 

subject to measurement uncertainty are outlined below as accounting estimates and judgments. actual results may differ from the 

estimates used, and such differences may be material.
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Accounting estimates

Premiums earned

Mortgage insurance premiums are deferred and then taken into underwriting revenues over the terms of the related policies. 

the rates or formulae under which premiums are earned relate to the loss emergence pattern in each year of coverage. In order to 

match premiums earned to losses on claims, premiums written are recognized as premiums earned using a factor-based premium 

recognition curve. In constructing the premium recognition curve, the Company applies actuarial forecasting techniques to historical 

loss data to determine expected loss development and the related loss emergence pattern. the actuarial forecasting techniques 

incorporate economic assumptions that impact future losses and loss development including unemployment rates, interest rates 

and expected changes in house prices. the premium recognition curve is reviewed quarterly based on the most current available 

historical loss data and economic assumptions and updated as required. the impact of the experience update for the fourth quarter 

of 2013 was an increase in premiums earned of $3 million, as compared to an increase in premiums earned of $8 million in the 

fourth quarter of 2012. the Company will continue to assess its loss experience on a quarterly basis and make adjustments as 

appropriate to the premium recognition curve.

Deferred policy acquisition costs 

deferred policy acquisition costs are comprised of premium taxes, appraisal costs, risk fee, certain employee compensation, and 

other expenses that relate directly to acquisition of new mortgage insurance business. deferred policy acquisition costs are deferred 

and expensed in proportion to and over the periods in which premiums are earned. the Company estimates expenses eligible for 

deferral based on the nature of expenses incurred and results of time and activity studies performed to identify the portion of time 

the Company’s employees incur in the acquisition of new mortgage insurance business.

Subrogation recoverable 

the Company estimates the fair value of real estate owned included in subrogation recoverable based on third party property 

appraisals or other types of third party valuations deemed to be more appropriate for a particular property.

the Company estimates borrower recoveries related to claims paid and loss reserves included in subrogation recoverable based on 

historical recovery experience.

Loss reserves

Loss reserves represent the amount needed to provide for the expected ultimate net cost of settling claims including adjustment 

expenses related to defaults by borrowers (both reported and unreported) that have occurred on or before the reporting date. Loss 

reserves are discounted to take into account the time value of money and include a supplemental provision for adverse deviation. 

Loss reserves are recognized when the first scheduled mortgage payment is missed by a mortgage borrower. In determining the 

ultimate claim amount, the Company estimates the expected recovery from the property securing the insured loan and the legal, 

property maintenance and other loss adjustment expenses incurred in the claim settlement process. Loss reserves consist of 

individual case reserves, incurred but not reported (“IBnr”) reserves and supplemental loss reserves for potential adverse deviation.

For the purpose of quantifying case reserves, the Company analyzes each reported delinquent loan on a case-by-case basis and 

establishes a case reserve based on the expected loss, if any. the ultimate expected claim amount is influenced significantly by 

housing market conditions, changes in property values, and the condition of properties in default. accordingly, case reserves include 

a provision for adverse development, primarily to address potential decline in property values.

the Company establishes reserves for IBnr based on the reporting lag from the date of first missed payment to the reporting 

date for mortgages in default that have not been reported to the Company. IBnr is calculated using estimates of expected claim 

frequency and claim severity based on the most current available historical loss data, adjusted for seasonality. 

In order to discount loss reserves to present value, the Company’s actuary determines a discount rate based on the book yield of the 

Company’s general investment portfolio. 
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the Company’s actuary develops a margin for adverse deviation based on assessment of the adequacy of the Company’s loss reserves 

(derived from an independent calculation of the reserves) and with reference to the current and future expected condition of the 

Canadian housing market and its impact on the expected development of losses. the Company determines a supplemental provision for 

adverse deviation (“pFad”) based on the margin developed by the actuary.

the process for the establishment of loss reserves relies on the judgment and opinions of a number of individuals, on historical 

precedent and trends, on prevailing legal and economic trends and on expectations as to future developments. this process involves 

risks that actual results will deviate, perhaps substantially, from the best estimates made. these risks vary in proportion to the length of 

the estimation period and the volatility of each component comprising the liability.

Share-based compensation

Stock options with tandem stock appreciation rights (“options”) are measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model. 

Inputs to the Black-Scholes valuation model are share price on the measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected 

volatility, weighted average expected life of the instrument, expected dividend yield and the risk-free rate. expected volatility is 

estimated based on the mean volatility of the general index of Canadian financial companies and the Company’s average historical 

volatility. the volatility of Canadian financial companies is used to supplement the volatility calculation given that the Company has 

limited share price history. the weighted average expected life of the instrument is estimated based on historical experience of affiliated 

companies. dividend yield is estimated based on historical dividends and the Company’s long-term expectations. risk-free rate is 

determined with reference to government of Canada bonds. 

the Company records share-based compensation expense only to the extent that the share-based awards are expected to vest based 

on management’s best estimate of the outcome of the service and performance conditions. 

Employee future benefits

actuarial valuations of benefit liabilities for pension and non-pension post-retirement benefit plans are performed as at december 31 of 

each year based on the Company’s assumptions, including assumptions on discount rate, rate of compensation increase, mortality and 

the trend in the health care cost rate. the discount rate is determined by the Company with reference to aa credit-rated bonds that have 

maturity dates approximating the Company’s obligation terms at period end and are denominated in the same currency as the benefit 

obligations. other assumptions are determined with reference to long-term expectations. 

Utilization of tax losses

as at december 31, 2013, the Company had recognized $9.1 million of tax losses (2012 – $10.7 million). Management considers it 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these tax losses can be utilized.

Accounting judgments

Objective evidence of impairment 

as of each reporting date, the Company evaluates aFS financial assets in an unrealized loss position for objective evidence 

of impairment.

For investments in bonds and debentures, evaluation of whether impairment has occurred is based on the Company’s best estimate 

of the cash flows expected to be collected at the individual investment level. the Company considers all available information relevant 

to the collectability of the investment, including information about past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable 

forecasts. estimating such cash flows is a quantitative and qualitative process that incorporates information received from third party 

sources along with certain internal assumptions and judgments regarding the future performance of any underlying collateral for asset-

backed investments. where possible, this data is benchmarked against third party sources. Impairments for bonds and debentures in an 

unrealized loss position are deemed to exist when the Company does not expect full recovery of the amortized cost of the investment 

based on the estimate of cash flows expected to be collected or when the Company intends to sell the investment prior to recovery 

from its unrealized loss position. 



Management’s discussion and analysis (continued)
For the year ended december 31, 2013

36 genworth MI Canada InC. 2013 annUaL report

For equity investments, the Company recognizes an impairment loss in the period in which it is determined that an investment has 

experienced significant or prolonged losses.

Risk management 
risk management is a critical part of genworth Canada’s business. the Company has an enterprise risk management framework that 

encompasses mortgage portfolio risk management, underwriting policies and guidelines, product enhancement, regulatory compliance, 

general portfolio management and operational and liquidity risk. the Company’s risk management framework facilitates the assessment 

of risk by acting as a proactive decision-making tool to determine which risks are acceptable and to monitor and manage the Company’s 

risks in an ongoing manner. the Company’s risk management framework and internal control procedures are designed to reduce the 

volatility in its financial results. 

Mortgage portfolio risk management 
the Company’s mortgage portfolio risk management involves actively managing its borrower credit quality, product and geographic 

exposures. the Company carefully monitors portfolio concentrations by borrower credit quality, product and geography against pre-

determined risk tolerances, taking into account the conditions of the housing market and economy in each region of Canada.the 

Company’s underwriting policies and guidelines are reviewed and updated regularly to manage the Company’s exposures and to 

address emerging trends in the housing market and economic environment. For example, in view of housing market conditions in the 

greater toronto area in 2012 and 2013, the Company took a number of actions focusing on its new insurance written to reduce the 

overall risk profile of its mortgage portfolio, including more stringent requirements for refinance transactions, and greater scrutiny on the 

marketability of high-rise condominium projects in this region.

the Company’s extensive historical database and innovative information technology systems are important tools in its approach to 

risk management. the Company utilizes components of its proprietary high loan-to-value mortgage performance database to build and 

improve its mortgage scoring model. this mortgage scoring model employs a number of evaluation criteria to assign a score to each 

insured mortgage loan and predict the likelihood of a future claim. these evaluation criteria include borrower credit score, loan type and 

amount, total debt service ratio, property type and loan-to-value. the Company believes these factors, as well as other considerations, 

significantly enhance the ability of the mortgage scoring model to predict the likelihood of a borrower default, as compared to reliance 

solely on borrower credit score.

the Company’s mortgage portfolio risk management function is organized into three primary groups: portfolio analysis, underwriting 

policies and guidelines, and risk technology and models. the risk management team analyzes and summarizes mortgage portfolio 

performance, risk concentrations, emerging trends and remedial actions, which are reviewed with the Company’s management-level risk 

committee on a monthly basis.

the Company also employs a quality assurance team to ensure that policies and guidelines established by the Company’s mortgage 

portfolio risk-management function are adhered to both internally within the Company and by lenders submitting applications to the 

Company. the quality assurance team conducts daily audits of a random sample of loans adjudicated by the Company’s underwriters. 

Similarly, lender audits are conducted on a routine basis, using a statistically relevant sample of approved loans. In addition, the quality 

assurance team also audits the loss reserving and mitigation functions to ensure compliance with relevant Company policies and 

accounting standards. audit results of all three areas are reviewed by management on a monthly basis.

Investment portfolio financial risk management 
the Company monitors and manages the credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including interest rate risk, equity price risk and 

currency risk of its investment portfolio. 
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to another party. 

the Company is exposed to credit risk principally through its investment assets. the Company’s investment management strategy is 

to invest primarily in debt instruments of Canadian government agencies and other high-credit-quality issuers and to limit the amount 

of credit exposure with respect to any one issuer, business sector, or credit rating category, as specified in its investment policy. Credit 

quality of financial instrument issuers is assessed based on ratings supplied by rating agencies dBrS, S&p, or Moody’s. 

Credit risk from derivative transactions reflects the potential for the counterparty to default on its contractual obligations when one or 

more transactions have a positive market value to the Company. therefore, derivative-related credit risk is represented by the positive 

fair value of the instrument and is normally a small fraction of the contract’s notional amount. to mitigate credit risk related to derivative 

counterparties, the Company has adopted a policy whereby, upon signing the derivative contract, the counterparty is required to have a 

minimum credit rating of a-.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient cash resources to meet financial commitments and policy obligations as they fall due 

without raising funds at unfavourable rates or selling assets on a forced basis. to ensure liquidity requirements are met, the Company 

holds a portion of investment assets in liquid securities. adverse capital and credit market conditions and the MCt requirements 

of the Insurance Subsidiary may significantly affect the Company’s access to capital and may affect its ability to meet liquidity or 

debt refinancing requirements in the future. potential liquidity risks are discussed in more detail in the “risk Factors” section of the 

Company’s annual information form (“aIF”) dated March 18, 2013 and the “Liquidity” section in this Md&a.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates, equity market fluctuations, 

foreign currency exchange rates and other relevant market rate or price changes. Market risk is directly influenced by the volatility and 

liquidity in the markets in which the related underlying assets are traded. the market risks to which the Company is exposed are interest 

rate risk, equity price risk and currency risk.

Interest rate risk 

Fluctuations in interest rates have a direct impact on the market valuation of the Company’s fixed income investment portfolio. 

Short-term interest rate fluctuations will generally create unrealized gains or losses. generally, the Company’s interest income will be 

reduced during sustained periods of lower interest rates as higher-yielding fixed income investments are called, mature or are sold 

and the proceeds are reinvested at lower rates, and this will likely result in unrealized gains in the value of fixed income investments 

the Company continues to hold, as well as realized gains to the extent that the relevant investments are sold. during periods of rising 

interest rates, the market value of the Company’s existing fixed income investments will generally decrease and gains on fixed income 

investments will likely be reduced or become losses.

Equity price risk

equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the 

values of individual stocks. equity price risk exposure arises from the Company’s investment in common shares. the Company has 

policies to limit and monitor exposures to individual equity investment issuers and its aggregate exposure to equities. 

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates. the Company is exposed to currency risk arising from investments and receivables denominated in U.S. and australian 

dollars. the Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate currency risk. 
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Transactions with related parties 
the Company enters into related party transactions with genworth Financial, Inc. and its subsidiaries. the services rendered by 

genworth Financial, Inc. and affiliated companies consist of information technology, finance, human resources, legal and compliance, 

and other specified services. the services rendered by the Company and the Insurance Subsidiary relate mainly to financial reporting 

and tax compliance support services. these transactions are in the normal course of business and are at terms and conditions no 

less favourable than market. Balances owing for service transactions are non-interest bearing and are settled on a quarterly basis. the 

Company incurred net related party charges of $1 million for the fourth quarter of 2013, and $6 million for the twelve months ended 

december 31, 2013, which was comparable to the prior year’s period.

on december 20, 2013, the Company, through its indirect subsidiary pMI Mortgage Insurance Company Canada (“pMI Canada”), 

entered into a retrocession agreement with Merrill Lynch reinsurance under which the Company assumed reinsurance risk for 

approximately 25% of the retroceded liabilities on claims paid by genworth Financial Mortgage Insurance pty Limited, an australian 

company (“genworth australia”), in excess of $700 million australian within any one year up to a maximum exposure to the Company 

of $30 million australian less claims paid by the Company in prior years. the term of the agreement is three years. genworth australia 

has the right to terminate the agreement after the first year of coverage. Under the excess of loss reinsurance agreement, the Company 

is required to collateralize its reinsurance obligations by posting cash collateral equal to the maximum exposure under the agreement. as 

at december 31, 2013, the Company has posted $30 million australian, equivalent to $28.5 million Canadian, under the agreement. 

Outstanding share data
the following table presents changes in the number of common shares outstanding at december 31, 2013, december 31, 2012 and 

december 31, 2011.

       2013 2012 2011

Common shares, January 1        98,698,018 98,666,796 104,789,394 
Common shares issued in connection with share-based compensation plans  115,979 31,222 31,248 
Common shares retired, repurchased and cancelled     (3,903,117) — (6,153,846)

Common shares, december 31       94,910,880 98,698,018  98,666,796

at december 31, 2013, subsidiaries of genworth Financial, Inc. owned approximately 54,469,098 common shares of the Company or 

approximately 57.4% of the Company’s outstanding shares.

Disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting
as required by the national Instrument 52-109, the Company has in place disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over 

financial reporting, designed under the Committee of Sponsoring organizations of the treadway Commission (“CoSo”) Framework 

(1992), to ensure the disclosure of all material information or changes relating to the Company to all members of the public in a fair 

and timely manner. Such controls and procedures ensure that all relevant material is gathered and reported to senior management 

(including the Chief executive officer (“Ceo”), Chief Financial officer (“CFo”) and general Counsel) and the Company’s management-

level disclosure committee on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. an evaluation and 

certification of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting is done regularly under 

supervision by the Company’s Ceo and CFo in accordance with the requirements of national Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian 

Securities administrators, and is available with the Company’s filings on the Sedar website at www.sedar.com. these certifications 

confirm that the Ceo and CFo have concluded that the design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures and internal 

controls over financial reporting were effective, as at december 31, 2013. there were no changes in the Company’s internal controls 

over financial reporting during the year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s controls 

over financial reporting.
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Special note regarding forward-looking statements 
Certain statements made in this Md&a contain forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities laws (“forward-

looking statements”). when used in this Md&a, the words “may,” “would,” “could,” “will,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” 

“believe,” “seek,” “propose,” “estimate,” “expect,” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company are intended to identify 

forward-looking statements. Specific forward-looking statements in this document include, but are not limited to, statements with 

respect to the Company’s expectations regarding the effect of the Canadian government guarantee legislative framework and the effect 

of changes to the government guarantee mortgage eligibility rules, and the Company’s beliefs as to housing demand and home price 

appreciation, unemployment rates, the Company’s future operating and financial results, sales expectations regarding premiums written, 

capital expenditure plans, dividend policy and the ability to execute on its future operating, investing and financial strategies.

the forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain factors and assumptions, certain of which appear proximate to 

the applicable forward-looking statements contained herein. Inherent in the forward-looking statements are known and unknown risks, 

uncertainties and other factors beyond the Company’s ability to control or predict that may cause the actual results, performance or 

achievements of the Company, or developments in the Company’s business or in its industry, to differ materially from the anticipated 

results, performance, achievements or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. actual results or 

developments may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements.

the Company’s actual results and performance could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements 

as a result of both known and unknown risks, including the continued availability of the Canadian government’s guarantee of private 

mortgage insurance on terms satisfactory to the Company; the Company’s expectations regarding its revenues, expenses and 

operations; the Company’s plans to implement its strategy and operate its business; the Company’s expectations regarding the 

compensation of directors and officers; the Company’s anticipated cash needs and its estimates regarding its capital expenditures, 

capital requirements, reserves and its needs for additional financing; the Company’s plans for and timing of expansion of service and 

products; the Company’s ability to accurately assess and manage risks associated with the policies that are written; the Company’s 

ability to accurately manage market, interest and credit risks; the Company’s ability to maintain ratings; interest rate fluctuations; a 

decrease in the volume of high loan-to-value mortgage orientations; the cyclical nature of the mortgage insurance industry; changes in 

government regulations and laws mandating mortgage insurance; the acceptance by the Company’s lenders of new technologies and 

products; the Company’s ability to attract lenders and develop and maintain lender relationships; the Company’s competitive position 

and its expectations regarding competition from other providers of mortgage insurance in Canada; anticipated trends and challenges in 

the Company’s business and the markets in which it operates; changes in the global or Canadian economies; a decline in the Company’s 

regulatory capital or an increase in its regulatory capital requirements; loss of members of the Company’s senior management team; 

potential legal, tax and regulatory investigations and actions; the failure of the Company’s computer systems; and potential conflicts of 

interest between the Company and its majority shareholder, genworth Financial, Inc.

this is not an exhaustive list of the factors that may affect any of the Company’s forward-looking statements. Some of these and other 

factors are discussed in more detail in the Company’s aIF dated March 18, 2013. Investors and others should carefully consider these 

and other factors and not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Further information regarding these and other risk 

factors is included in the Company’s public filings with provincial and territorial securities regulatory authorities (including the Company’s 

aIF) and can be found on the Sedar website at www.sedar.com. the forward-looking statements contained in this Md&a represent 

the Company’s views only as of the date hereof. Forward-looking statements contained in this Md&a are based on management’s 

current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions and the assumptions related to these plans, estimates, projections, beliefs 

and opinions may change, and therefore are presented for the purpose of assisting the Company’s security holders in understanding 

management’s current views regarding those future outcomes and may not be appropriate for other purposes. while the Company 

anticipates that subsequent events and developments may cause the Company’s views to change, the Company does not undertake to 

update any forward-looking statements, except to the extent required by applicable securities laws.
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Non-IFRS financial measures
to supplement the Company’s consolidated interim financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFrS, the Company 

uses non-IFrS financial measures to analyze performance. Such non-IFrS financial measures used by the Company to analyze 

performance include net operating income, operating earnings per common share (basic), operating earnings per common share 

(diluted), shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI, operating return on equity and underwriting ratios such as loss ratio, expense ratio and 

combined ratio. other non-IFrS financial measures used by the Company to analyze performance include insurance in force, new 

insurance written, MCt ratio, delinquency ratio, severity on claims paid, book value per common share (basic) including aoCI, book 

value per common share (basic) excluding aoCI, book value per common share (diluted) including aoCI, book value per common 

share (diluted) excluding aoCI, and dividends paid per common share. the Company believes that these non-IFrS financial measures 

provide meaningful supplemental information regarding its performance and may be useful to investors because they allow for greater 

transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision making. non-IFrS financial 

measures do not have standardized meaning and are unlikely to be comparable to any similar measure presented by other companies. 

In addition, where applicable, non-IFrS measures used by the Company have been adjusted to analyze the impact of the reversal of the 

government guarantee fund exit fee.

the table below reconciles the Company’s net operating income, operating earnings per common share (basic), operating earnings per 

common share (diluted) and shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI for the periods specified to the Company’s net income, earnings per 

common share (basic), earnings per common share (diluted) and shareholders’ equity in accordance with IFrS for such periods. 

      For the fourth quarter  For the year 

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012 2013  2012

net income        $ 93   $ 226   $ 375   $ 470 
adjustment to net income:    
 net investment gains, net of taxes       (8)  (0)  (26)  (9)

net operating income(1)         $ 85   $ 226 $ 349   $ 462 

 
earnings per common share (basic)       $ 0.98   $ 2.29   $ 3.86   $ 4.77 
adjustment to earnings per common share:    
 net investment gains, net of taxes       (0.08)  (0.00)  (0.26)  (0.09)

operating earnings per common share (basic)(1)     $  0.90   $ 2.29   $ 3.60   $ 4.68 

earnings per common share (diluted)(2)       $ 0.98   $ 2.29   $ 3.86   $ 4.76 
adjustment to earnings per common share:    
 net investment gains, net of taxes       (0.08)  (0.00)  (0.26)  (0.09)

operating earnings per common share (diluted)(1),(2)     $  0.90   $ 2.28   $ 3.60   $ 4.67 

Shareholders’ equity        $ 3,087  $ 3,037 $ 3,087  $ 3,037 
adjustment to shareholders’ equity:    
 accumulated other comprehensive income (“aoCI”)     (124)  (221)   (124)  (221)

Shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI(1)       $  2,963   $ 2,816   $ 2,963  $ 2,816 

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding.
(1) The financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. 
(2) The difference between basic and diluted number of common shares outstanding is caused by the potentially dilutive impact of share-based compensation awards.
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Government guarantee fund exit fee reversal: Reconciliation of adjustments to IFRS and non-IFRS 
financial measures 
the impact of the 2012 government guarantee fund exit fee reversal of $186 million ($137 million after income taxes), consisting of 

$166 million ($122 million after income taxes) related to exit fees accrued in 2011 and prior years and a further $20 million ($15 million 

after-tax) accrued for the first nine months of 2012, resulted in $186 million of additional investment income in the fourth quarter of 2012 

and $166 million for the year 2012. 

the table below summarizes the impact of the 2012 government guarantee fund exit fee reversal on the Company’s key IFrS measures 

including net investment income, net income, earnings per common share (basic), earnings per common share (diluted) and non-IFrS 

financial measures including net operating income, operating return on equity, operating earnings per common share (basic), operating 

earnings per common share (diluted):

      For the fourth quarter For the year

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012 2013  2012

Adjusted net investment income      $ 56 $ 47 $ 215 $ 201
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  186  —  166

net investment income        $ 56 $ 233 $ 215 $ 367

Adjusted net income       $ 93 $ 89 $ 375 $ 348
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  137  —  122

net income        $ 93 $ 226 $ 375 $ 470
             
Adjusted net operating income      $ 85 $ 89 $ 349 $ 339
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  137  —  122

net operating income       $ 85 $ 226 $ 349 $ 462
             
Adjusted operating return on equity       12%  13%  12%  13%
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  20%  —  5%

operating return on equity         12%  33%  12%  17%

Adjusted earnings per common share (basic)    $ 0.98  $ 0.90  $  3.86  $  3.53 
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  1.39   —  1.24 

earnings per common share (basic)      $  0.98  $  2.29  $  3.86  $  4.77 
        
Adjusted earnings per common share (diluted)    $ 0.98  $ 0.90  $  3.86  $  3.52 
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  1.39   —  1.24 

earnings per common share (diluted)       $ 0.98  $ 2.29  $  3.86  $  4.76 
        
Adjusted operating earnings per common share (basic)   $  0.90  $  0.90  $  3.60  $  3.44 
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —  1.39   —  1.24 

operating earnings per common share (basic)     $  0.90  $  2.29  $  3.60  $  4.68 
        
Adjusted operating earnings per common share (diluted)   $  0.90  $  0.90  $  3.60  $  3.43 
Impact of reversal of government guarantee fund exit fee     —   1.39   —  1.24 

operating earnings per common share (diluted)    $ 0.90  $  2.28  $  3.60  $ 4.67 

Note: Amounts may not total due to rounding.
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the table below shows the Company’s non-IFrS financial measures for which no comparable IFrS measure is available. For a more 

meaningful description of the measure, refer to the “glossary for non-IFrS financial measures” at the end of this Md&a.

      For the fourth quarter For the year

(In millions of dollars, unless otherwise specified)    2013  2012 2013  2012

Selected non-IFRS financial measures(1)        
Insurance in force       $ 316,702 $ 301,456 $ 316,702 $ 301,456
new insurance written       $ 7,693 $ 8,472 $ 34,985 $ 41,286
Loss ratio        22%  31%  25%  33%
expense ratio        23%  19%  20%  18%
Combined ratio        45%  50%  44%  51%
operating return on equity(2)        12%  33%  12%  17%
MCt ratio        223%  170%  223%  170%
delinquency ratio        0.12%  0.14%  0.12%  0.14%
Severity on claims paid        29%  34%  30%  32%
Investment yield        3.6%  3.8%  3.7%  4.0%
        
Book value per common share        
number of common shares outstanding (basic)     94,910,880  98,698,018  94,910,880  98,698,018
Book value per common share including aoCI (basic)    $ 32.53 $ 30.77 $ 32.53 $ 30.77
Book value per common share excluding aoCI (basic)    $ 31.22 $ 28.53 $ 31.22 $ 28.53

number of common shares outstanding (diluted)(3)     94,918,169  99,174,050  94,918,169  99,174,050
Book value per common share including aoCI (diluted)(3)    $ 32.53 $ 30.62 $ 32.53 $ 30.62
Book value per common share excluding aoCI (diluted)(3)    $ 31.22 $ 28.40 $ 31.22 $ 28.40
Dividends paid per common share(4)      $ 0.35 $ 0.32 $ 1.31 $ 1.19

(1) The financial measures are not calculated based on IFRS. 
(2)  Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $186 million in the fourth quarter of 2012, adjusted operating return on equity would have 

been 13%. Excluding the impact of the government guarantee fund exit fee reversal in investment income of $166 million related to 2011 and prior years, adjusted operating return on 
equity for the year 2012 would have been 13%.

(3) The difference between basic and diluted number of common shares outstanding is caused by the potentially dilutive impact of share-based compensation awards.
(4) Dividends paid per common share reflect payment for the fourth quarter and year ended 2013 and 2012.
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Glossary for non-IFRS financial measures
“book value per common share” is a measure of the carrying value of each individual share of the Company and is a key metric used 

by investors in assessing the market value of the Company. 

“book value per share including AOCI (basic)” means the per share amount of shareholders’ equity to the number of basic common 

shares outstanding at a specified date. 

“book value per share excluding AOCI (basic)” means the per share amount of shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI to the number of 

basic common shares outstanding at a specified date. 

“book value per share including AOCI (diluted)” means the per share amount of shareholders’ equity including aoCI to the number 

of diluted common shares outstanding at a specified date. diluted common shares outstanding takes into account all of the outstanding 

dilutive securities that could potentially be exercised. 

“book value per share excluding AOCI (diluted)” means the per share amount of shareholders’ equity excluding aoCI to the number 

of diluted common shares outstanding at a specified date. diluted common shares outstanding takes into account all of the outstanding 

dilutive securities that could potentially be exercised. 

“combined ratio” means the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio. the combined ratio measures the proportion of the 

Company’s total cost to its premium earned and is used to assess the profitability of the Company insurance underwriting activities. 

“delinquency ratio” means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of the total number of delinquent loans to the total original number 

of policies in force at a specified date. the delinquency ratio is an indicator of the emergence of losses on claims and the quality of the 

insurance portfolio and a useful comparison to industry benchmarks and internal targets. 

“dividends paid per common share” means the portion of the Company’s profits distributed to shareholders during a specified period, 

and measures the total amount distributed by the Company to shareholders. 

“expense ratio” means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of sales, underwriting and administrative expenses to net premiums 

earned for a specified period. the expense ratio measures the operational efficiency of the Company and is a useful comparison to 

industry benchmarks and internal targets. 

“insurance in force” means the amount of all mortgage insurance policies in effect at a specified date, based on the original principal 

balance of mortgages covered by such insurance policies, including any capitalized premiums. Insurance in force measures the 

maximum potential total risk exposure under insurance contracts at any given time and is used to assess potential losses on claims. 

“investment yield” means the net investment income before investment fees and excluding net realized gains (losses) tax affected for 

dividends for a period divided by the average of the beginning and ending investment’s book value for such period. For quarterly results, 

the investment yield is the annualized net investment income using the average of beginning and ending investment’s book value for 

such quarter. 

“loss ratio” means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of the total amount of losses on claims associated with insurance policies 

incurred during a specified period to net premiums earned during such period. the loss ratio is a key measure of underwriting 

profitability and the quality of the insurance portfolio and is used for comparisons to industry benchmarks and internal targets. 

“Minimum Capital Test” or “MCT” means the minimum capital test for certain federally regulated insurance companies established 

by oSFI (as defined herein). Under MCt, companies calculate an MCt ratio of regulatory capital available to regulatory capital required 

using a defined methodology prescribed by oSFI in monitoring the adequacy of a company’s capital. the MCt ratio is a key metric of the 

adequacy of the Company’s capital in comparison to regulatory requirements and is used for comparisons to other mortgage insurers 

and internal targets. 
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“net operating income” means net income excluding after-tax net realized gains (losses) on sale of investments and unrealized 

gains (losses) on fair value through profit or loss (“FVtpL”) securities. net operating income estimates the recurring after-tax 

earnings from core business activities and is an indicator of core operating performance. 

“new insurance written” means the original principal balance of mortgages, including any capitalized premiums, insured during a 

specified period. new insurance written measures the maximum potential risk exposure under insurance contracts added during a 

specific time period and is used to determine potential loss exposure. 

“operating return on equity” means the net operating income for a period divided by the average of the beginning and ending 

shareholders’ equity, excluding aoCI, for such period. For quarterly results, the operating return is the annualized operating return on 

equity using the average of beginning and ending shareholders’ equity, excluding aoCI, for such quarter. operating return on equity 

is an indicator of return on equity from the core business activities. 

“severity on claims paid” means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of the dollar amount of paid claims during a specified period 

on insured loans to the original insured mortgage amount relating to such loans. the main determinants of the severity ratio are the 

loan-to-value (original balance of a mortgage loan divided by the original value of the mortgaged property), age of the mortgage loan, 

the value of the underlying property, accrued interest on the loan, expenses advanced by the insured and foreclosure expenses. 

Severity on claims paid ratio measures the size of the average loss on a paid claim relative to the original insured mortgage amount 

and is used to assess the potential loss exposure related to insurance in force and for comparison to industry benchmarks and 

internal targets.

the Company’s full glossary is posted on the Company’s website at http://investor.genworthmicanada.ca and can be accessed by 

clicking on the “glossary of terms” link in the Investor resources subsection on the left navigation bar.



genworth MI Canada InC. 2013 annUaL report 45

 46  Management statement on responsibility for 
financial reporting

 47 Independent auditors’ report 

 48 Consolidated statements of financial position

 49 Consolidated statements of income

 50 Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

 51  Consolidated statements of changes in equity

 52 Consolidated statements of cash flows

 53 Notes to consolidated financial statements

 Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended december 31, 2013 and 2012

Genworth MI Canada Inc.



46 genworth MI Canada InC. 2013 annUaL report

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements of genworth MI Canada 

Inc. (the “Company”). this responsibility includes ensuring the integrity and fairness of information presented and making appropriate 

estimates based on judgment. the consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles. 

preparation of financial information is an integral part of management’s broader responsibilities for the ongoing operations of the 

Company. Management maintains an extensive system of internal accounting controls to ensure that transactions are accurately 

recorded on a timely basis, are properly approved and result in reliable financial statements. the adequacy of operation of the control 

systems is monitored on an ongoing basis by management.

the Board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is responsible for approving the financial statements. the audit Committee of 

the Board, comprising directors who are neither officers nor employees of the Company, meets with management, internal auditors, 

the actuary and external auditors (all of whom have unrestricted access and the opportunity to have private meetings with the audit 

Committee), and reviews the financial statements. the audit Committee then submits its report to the Board recommending its 

approval of the financial statements.

the Company’s appointed actuary is required to conduct a valuation of policy liabilities in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

actuarial standards, reporting his results to management and the audit Committee.

the office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“oSFI”) makes an annual examination and inquiry into the affairs of 

the insurance subsidiary of the Company as deemed necessary to ensure that the Company is in sound financial condition and that the 

interests of the policyholders are protected under the provisions of the Insurance Companies Act (Canada).

the Company’s external auditors, KpMg LLp, Chartered professional accountants, conduct an independent audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the Company and meet both with management and the audit Committee to discuss the results of their audit. 

the auditors’ report to the shareholders appears on the following page.

Brian Hurley 
president and Chief executive officer

Philip Mayers 
Senior Vice-president and Chief Financial officer

toronto, Canada 

Management statement on responsibility for financial reporting
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to the Shareholders of genworth MI Canada Inc.

we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of genworth MI Canada Inc., which comprise the consolidated 

statements of financial position as at december 31, 2013 and 2012, the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. we conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 

genworth MI Canada Inc. as at december 31, 2013 and 2012, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 

for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 18, 2014 

toronto, Canada 

Independent auditors’ report


